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PRODUCT APPLICATIONS

< ENVIRONMENTAL 
Peerless simple-cycle exhaust systems for reduction 

of NOx  and CO emissions from a peaking power 

plant in California. The Peerless units were 

engineered, manufactured and delivered within a 

six month schedule.

STEAM QUALITY > 
Framework of a Peerless Steam Dryer in its final 

manufacturing stage supplied for installation in a 

replacement steam generator vessel.

< MARINE APPLICATIONS 
Assembly of a composite louver using recently acquired 

technology to protect air intake systems on LPD-17 

class ships for the U.S. Navy.



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended June 30th, 2005	 2004	 2003	 2002	 2001

(financial data have been adjusted to give effect to the two-for-one stock split effective October 18, 2001)

OPERATIONS

 Net sales $51,063 $59,761 $64,854 $94,880 $75,278

 Net earnings (loss) from 
 continuing operations $ (526) $ 2,402 $     911 $  6,079 $  4,257

 Net earnings (loss) $ (592) $ 2,038 $   (379) $  4,389 $  3,072

 

PER COMMON SHARE / DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS)

 Net earnings (loss) from
 continuing operations $   (.17) $   0.79 $    0.30  $    1.97 $    1.42

 Net earnings (loss)  $   (.20) $   0.67 $  (0.13)  $    1.43 $    1.02

 Shares outstanding

 Weighted average – basic 3,028 3,003 2,996 2,978 2,947

 Weighted average – diluted 3,028 3,044 3,013 3,080 3,002

YEAR END FINANCIAL CONDITION

   Working capital $20,272 $20,529 $17,771 $17,755 $14,615

 Current ratio 2.31 2.39 1.83 1.73 1.54

 Shareholders’ equity $24,290 $24,673 $22,311 $22,515 $17,693

 Book value per share $    8.00 $    8.19 $    7.44 $    7.53 $    5.99 
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PATIENCE	AND	OPPORTUNITIES

Management’s vision to position Peerless as a company capable 

of weathering market downturns and thriving in the upturns 

is beginning to take shape.  With some tough decisions in the 

context of challenged energy and power market conditions 

now behind us, the prognosis for our markets continues to im-

prove as we head into our fiscal 2006.  We are looking ahead 

towards the resurgence of capital deployment into the energy 

sector right here in the United States.  In fiscal 2005 we added 

to our legacy as a premium provider of quality products and 

service to international industrial markets; international sales 

were $20.8 million, or 40.7% of our revenues vs. $19.5 million 

a year ago, which represented 32.6% of our revenues.  In par-

ticular, our capabilities in the Africa/Middle East region should 

serve us well, as this region is expected to provide roughly 18% 

of all worldwide orders for power generation equipment and 

technologies over the next three years.  (Source: GE Energy, 

Greenville Analyst Meeting-November 16, 2004)  Though 

we were disappointed in reporting a net loss for the year, we 

generated roughly $5 million in operating cash flow.  As we’ve 

seen our revenues decline for the past three years, we remain 

optimistic that there are catalysts in place that will boost our 

top- and bottom-line performance, and lead the growth of our 

business into fiscal 2006 and beyond.

BREAKING	IT	DOWN	–	GLOBAL	LEADERSHIP	
IN	OUR	SEGMENTS:

Our strategy to participate in the increased global demand for 

natural gas and life extension and power up-rate projects at 

nuclear power plants has been clearly evident in the top line 

at our Separation Filtration segment: Separation Filtration 

products represented 60% of the firm’s revenue, compared to 

53% a year ago.  Profits for these products, though, were dis-

appointing as this segment’s results were negatively impacted 

by significant materials cost increases (most notably stainless 

steel prices have risen 30% in the past 18 months) combined 

with strong competitive pressures.  Strong worldwide energy 

demand is creating renewed opportunities for our separation 

and filtration products around the world. New pipelines, gas 

processing facilities, chemical and petrochemical process 

plants, and LNG plants and terminals are driving growth of 

this business segment. The domestic market for our nuclear 

products also remains strong, as nuclear power plants continue 

to invest in life extension and power up-rate projects, in con-

nection with their license renewals. The construction of new 

nuclear power plants in China, Europe and South Korea is also 

creating opportunities for our nuclear steam-dryers.

On the Environmental Systems side, we would expect that as 

compliance deadlines for air regulations come into effect over 

the next three to five years and users implement their compli-

ance plans, spending for NOx reduction systems will increase.  

State Implementation Plans, the Clean Air Interstate Rule, and 

consent decrees, all create a potentially positive environment 

for our Environmental Systems. In addition, increasing energy 

demand is beginning to require the construction of new power 

plants, which would require some type of a NOx reduction 

system.  In the West and the East, new gas-fired plants will 

likely be constructed to meet peak electricity demand.  New 

coal-fired power plants, applied to base-load operations, are 

planned for construction over the next several years.

The increasing global demand for natural gas is creating 

potential opportunities at LNG receiving terminals, as new on-

site power plants may need to be built to provide the  energy 

needed for the re-gasification process.  As a matter of fact, we 

announced in early October a $6 million contract win out of 

our U.K. office that called for our Dallas, Texas operation to 

supply multiple SCR systems, ductwork, and other equipment 

to a European manufacturer of combustion turbines as part 

of their contract to supply power at an LNG terminal in the 

eastern United States.  We would expect more opportunities 

for our environmental systems unit, as these new power plants 

need to implement some type of NOx emissions control.  We 

are also seeing an increase in international opportunities for 

NOx reduction systems and we are well-positioned to partici-

pate in this market growth.  

OUR	FISCAL	YEAR	2005	OPERATING	RESULTS

For fiscal year 2005, Peerless reported revenues from continuing 

operations of approximately $51.1 million, a decrease of 

approximately $8.7 million, or 14.6%, compared to revenues 

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS



from continuing operations of approximately $59.8 million for 

the previous year.  As the result of reduced revenues during 

fiscal year 2005, Peerless recorded a net loss from continuing 

operations of approximately $526,000, or ($0.17) per diluted 

share, compared to net earnings from continuing operations of 

approximately $2.4 million, or $.79 per diluted share, for the 

previous year.  Loss from discontinued operations during the 

twelve months ended June 30, 2005, was $66,000, or ($0.02) 

per diluted share, compared to a loss of $364,000, or ($0.12) 

per diluted share, for the previous year.  Net loss for the twelve 

months ended June 30, 2005 was approximately $592,000, or 

($0.20) per diluted share, compared to net earnings of approx-

imately $2.0 million, or $0.67 per diluted share, for twelve 

months ended June 30, 2004.

A	SOLID	BALANCE	SHEET

Our cash and cash equivalents were $8.3 million as of June 30, 

2005, compared to $4.1 million at June 30, 2004, an increase of 

over 100%, as a function of receivables coming down by $2.0 

million and certain other assets being converted to cash.  Cash 

generated by operating activities during fiscal year 2005 was 

approximately $5.0 million, compared to cash used in operating 

activities during fiscal 2004 of approximately $4.3 million.  

OUR	GROWING	BACKLOG

We are also encouraged by the increase in our quotation 

activities across all operating units and by the recent increase 

in our orders. As a result, we recently announced that we 

expected our backlog at September 30, 2005 to be in the range 

of $48 million to $50 million, up from our $34 million backlog 

at June 30, 2005, with the majority of this backlog anticipated 

to ship during the second half of fiscal year 2006.

OUR	FUTURE

At the top of our priority list as we enter Fiscal 2006 is to reverse 

the downtrend in our top-line to fill out our capacity, spread 

our cost base, and resume profitability.  We’re not satisfied 

with declining revenues and posting a loss, and we’re working 

hard to generate sales form both current and new customers.  

Our business strategy is also predicated on our commitments to 

building and maintaining strong customer relationships, further 

penetrating our existing markets, identifying new geographic 

and technological trends and opportunities, and driving our 

costs lower to increase bottom-line results.

Your interest and support have been, and will continue to be, 

a key part of our success, for which we thank you.

With best regards and appreciation,

Sherrill Stone

Chairman,

Chief Executive Officer

Certain statements contained in this letter that are not his-

torical facts are forward-looking statements that involve a 

number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 

factors that could cause the actual results, performance or 

achievements of Peerless Mfg. Co. to be materially different 

from any future results, performance or achievement expressed 

or implied by such forward-looking statements.  You should be 

aware that  a variety of factors could cause actual results and 

experience to differ materially from the anticipated results or 

other expectations expressed in such forward-looking state-

ments.  A description of many of such factors may be found 

in the enclosed annual report.  Peerless Mfg. Co. undertakes 

no obligation to revise any forward-looking statements or to 

update them to reflect events or circumstances occurring after 

the date of this letter, or to reflect the occurrence of unantici-

pated events. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance 

on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of 

the date hereof. The inclusion of any statement in this let-

ter does not constitute an admission by Peerless Mfg. Co. or 

any other person that the events or circumstances described in 

this letter are material.
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:   
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        (Title of Class)      (Name of each exchange where registered)
Common Stock, $1.00 Par Value            NASDAQ 
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to be affiliates.  Exclusion of such shares should not be construed to indicate that any of such persons possesses the 
power, direct or indirect, to control the Registrant, or that any such person is controlled by or under common control 
with the Registrant. 
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PART I 

 
 

ITEM 1.   BUSINESS 
 

Peerless Mfg. Co. (the “Company,” "Registrant," "Peerless" or "we," "us" or "our") was organized in 
1933 as a proprietorship and was incorporated as a Texas corporation in 1946. We have two wholly 
owned subsidiaries incorporated in Texas and the United Kingdom, respectively.  Our executive offices 
are located at 2819 Walnut Hill Lane, Dallas, TX 75229.  Our telephone number at this location is (214) 
357-6181, and our website may be accessed at www.peerlessmfg.com.  Our fiscal year ends on June 30.  
References herein to “fiscal 2003,” “fiscal 2004,” and “fiscal 2005” refer to our fiscal years ended June 
30, 2003, 2004, and 2005, respectively. 
 

In connection with the discontinuation of our Boiler operations (see Note D – “Discontinued 
Operations” in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements), the fiscal 2005 financial information has 
been presented, and the prior years financial information has been restated, to report the discontinued 
operations in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets.”  In addition, certain fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 items have been reclassified to conform to the 
fiscal 2005 presentation.   
 
Operating Segments and Products 
 

We operate our business through two primary business segments, the first of which is our 
Environmental Systems business, which accounted for approximately 40% of our revenues in fiscal 2005.  
In this segment, we design, engineer, manufacture and sell environmental control systems, which are used 
for air pollution abatement.  Our main product, Selective Catalytic Reduction Systems, referred to as 
“SCR Systems,” is used to convert nitrogen oxide (NOx) emissions from exhaust gases, caused by 
burning hydrocarbon fuels, such as coal, gasoline, natural gas and oil, into harmless nitrogen and water 
vapor.  These systems are totally integrated, complete with instruments, controls and related valves and 
piping.  In this segment, we also offer systems to reduce other pollutants, such as carbon monoxide (CO) 
and particulate matter (PM).   
 

Our other business segment is our Separation Filtration Systems business, which accounted for 
approximately 60% of our revenues in fiscal 2005.  In this business segment, we design, engineer, 
manufacture and sell specialized products known as “separators” or “filters” which are used for a variety 
of purposes in cleaning gases and liquids as they move through piping systems.  These products are used 
primarily to remove solid and liquid contaminants from natural gas, as well as saltwater aerosols from 
combustion intake air of shipboard gas turbine and diesel engines.  Separators are also used in nuclear 
power plants to remove water from saturated steam.   
 

Although we manufacture and stock a limited number of products for immediate delivery, the 
majority of our products are custom designed based on specific customer requirements or specifications, 
generally pursuant to long-term fixed priced contracts.  In certain cases, our products are designed by us 
but produced by subcontractors or contract vendors under our supervision. 

  
Please see Note O - “Industry Segment and Geographic Information” in our Notes to Consolidated 

Financial Statements and Item 7 – “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations” of this Report for further disclosure and discussion of financial information with 
respect to these two segments, Environmental Systems and Separation Filtration Systems. 
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Restructuring and Organizational Realignment 
 

During fiscal 2002, the demand for electricity declined and the United States economy weakened.  
As a result, a considerable slowdown in the construction of new power plants occurred.  In addition, 
regulatory uncertainties caused NOx reduction initiatives relating to retrofit projects to be delayed.  In 
July 2002, as a response to these market and economic indicators, we initiated a “restructuring and 
organizational realignment initiative.”  The goal of this initiative was to reduce costs, streamline 
operations, and identify certain non-critical, marginally performing operating activities, thereby 
positioning us with a more competitive cost structure for our overall long-term success.  In connection 
therewith, we identified our Boiler business as a non-critical, marginally performing business segment 
and suspended new orders during fiscal 2003.  The assets of this segment were sold during the first part of 
fiscal 2004, and as a result, our financial information has been restated to present this operation as a 
discontinued business unit.   

 
We believe as a result of these initiatives, including the redirection of our resources to focus on our 

two remaining segments, we are positioned to maximize our current operational efficiencies and have the 
flexibility to meet our customers’ current and anticipated needs.  Even though our restructuring and 
organizational realignment initiatives are complete, we continue to look for ways to improve our 
operational efficiencies and performance. 
 
Manufacturing and Outsourcing 
 

Our products are fabricated utilizing a combination of in-house manufacturing, subcontractors and 
contract vendors.  In fiscal 2003, 2004, and 2005, manufacturing outsourced to subcontractors accounted 
for a significant percentage of our costs of goods sold (approximately 39% in fiscal 2003, approximately 
41% in fiscal 2004, and 49% in fiscal 2005).  We believe the use of outsourcing relationships provides us 
with the flexibility to meet our customers’ needs without significantly increasing our capital expenditures.  
In addition, we maintain global relationships with foreign subcontractors to accommodate contracts that 
require local content and for potentially competitive advantages over other domestic suppliers.  Our 
subcontractors generally manufacture products on a fixed-price basis for each project.  We regularly 
review our subcontractor and contract vendor relationships to ensure competitive pricing,  quality and 
workmanship standards and on-time delivery performance. 

 
We maintain significant in-house manufacturing capabilities and generally manufacture products 

whose complexity may preclude their production by our subcontractors and contract vendors and where 
necessary, to protect our proprietary technology. 
 
Customers 
 

Our Environmental Systems are sold to power producers, power developers, engineering and 
construction companies, heat recovery steam generator manufacturers, boiler manufacturers, refineries, 
petrochemical plants and others who desire or may be required by environmental regulations to reduce 
NOx emissions and ground level ozone to which NOx is a precursor. 
 

Gas separators, filters and conditioning systems produced by our Separation Filtration Systems 
business are sold to gas producers and gas gathering, transmission and distribution companies, chemical 
manufacturers and oil refineries, either directly or through contractors engaged to build plants and 
pipelines, and to manufacturers of compressors, turbines, and nuclear and conventional steam generating 
equipment. Marine separation and filtration systems are sold primarily to shipbuilders.   
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Customers - continued 
 
We market our products worldwide through independent representatives who sell on a commission 

basis under the general direction of an officer of Peerless. We also sell products directly to customers 
through our internal sales force.  Our business activity and revenues historically have not been seasonal. 
 

We are not dependent upon any single customer or group of customers in either of our two business 
segments.  The custom-designed and project-specific nature of our business can cause year-to-year 
variances in our major customers.  During fiscal 2005, one customer accounted for approximately 8% of 
our revenues, and in fiscal 2004 and 2003, different customers accounted for approximately 10% and 
16% of our total revenues, respectively.   

 
Sales to international customers have been an integral part of our business for more than 40 years.  

During fiscal 2005, foreign sales amounted to approximately $20.8 million, or 40.7% of our revenues, 
compared to sales of approximately $19.5 million, or 32.6% of our revenues during fiscal 2004, and $20.7 
million, or 31.9% of our revenues in fiscal 2003.  Our global offices and worldwide independent 
representative network allows us to sell to most geographic regions.    See Item 7 – “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Factors That May Affect Our 
Operating Results and Other Risk Factors” and Item 7A - “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures 
About Market Risk” of this Report.  
 
Backlog  
 

Our backlog of uncompleted orders was approximately $34 million at both June 30, 2005 and June 
30,  2004.  Backlog has been calculated under our customary practice of including incomplete orders for 
products that are deliverable in future periods, but that may be changed or cancelled.  Of our backlog at 
June 30, 2005, approximately 74% is scheduled to be completed during our next fiscal year, compared to 
70% at June 30, 2004.  For further discussion on our backlog, please see Item 7 – “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Backlog” of this Report.  

 
Competition   
 

We have domestic and international competitors with capital and revenues that are larger and smaller 
than ours in the manufacturing and selling of Environmental Systems and Separation Filtration Systems.  
Management believes that price, experience, performance, reliability and service are the prime 
competitive factors in our markets.  We believe that we strongly compete in all these areas. 
 
Patents, Licenses and Product Development  
 

We believe that we are a leader in designing, engineering and manufacturing efficient, dependable 
Environmental Systems.  We also consider ourselves to be highly skilled in the technology required to 
design and manufacture high efficiency vapor/liquid separation equipment and systems.  Our capital 
expenditures for new product development and improvements were not material in any of the fiscal years 
presented.  

 
To protect our intellectual property rights, we depend upon a combination of patents, trademarks, 

internal controls and non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with our employees, subcontractors, 
contract vendors, customers and others having business dealings with the Company.  We have existing 
patents and patent applications pending on certain products and processes that are important to our 
business.  These include patents on vane designs, separator profiles, environmental controls equipment, 
and marine/separator filtration systems.  In addition, most of our products are proprietary and are sold 
utilizing our proven technology and knowledge of the applications.   
 



 
Employees 
 

Our employees by location are as follows:  
June 30, 

Geographic location: 2005 2004

United States 141           156           
United Kingdom 21             21             

Singapore 4               4               
Total 166         181         

 
     
None of our employees are represented by a labor union or are subject to a collective bargaining 

agreement.  We have not experienced any material labor difficulties during the past year and we believe 
our employee relations are good. 

 
Raw Materials  
 

We purchase raw materials and component parts essential to our business from established sources 
and have not experienced any unusual problems in purchasing required materials and parts. We believe 
that raw materials and component parts will be available in sufficient quantities to meet our anticipated 
demand.  During the past year, the Company has experienced significant increases in price and order lead-
times associated with its steel products and components.  While we have not experienced any unusual 
problems with purchasing the required materials, and while we have been able to mitigate to some extent 
the increase in steel prices, there can be no assurance that we will continue to find our raw materials in 
quantities or at prices satisfactory to us.  For further discussion, see Item 7 – “Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Results of Operations Segments – 
Segment Profit Separation Filtration Systems and Factors That May Affect Our Operating Results and 
Other Risk Factors.”   
 
Environmental Regulation  
 

We do not believe that our compliance with federal, state or local statutes or regulations relating to 
the protection of the environment has had any material effect upon capital expenditures, earnings or our 
competitive position. Our manufacturing processes do not emit substantial foreign substances into the 
environment. 
 

Environmental regulations related to NOx and ozone emissions have a significant impact on the 
demand for our Environmental Systems.  See also Item 7 – “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Forward Looking Statements and Factors That May 
Affect Our Operating Results and Other Risk Factors” of this Report.  For segment and geographic 
information see Note O – “Industry Segment and Geographic Information” of our Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements attached to this Report. 
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Available Information  
 
 Our Internet website is http://www.peerlessmfg.com.  Peerless makes available, free of charge, 
through its Internet website (under “Investor Relations”) the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, 
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, Proxy Statements and all amendments to 
those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with (or furnished to) the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).  Reports, Proxy Statements and other information regarding 
the Company also are contained on the SEC’s Internet website, http://www.sec.gov. 
 
  

Peerless has posted its Code of Conduct for Directors and Employees and other corporate 
governance related policies and charters for its Audit, Compensation and Nomination Committees on its 
website, http://www.peerlessmfg.com.  This information is available in print to any shareholder who 
requests it by writing to the Company at 2819 Walnut Hill Lane, Dallas, Texas 75229, Attention: Ms. 
Susan Banner.   
 
ITEM 2.   PROPERTIES 
 

Our executive offices and research and development facilities are owned, and are located in Dallas, 
Texas.  We own and operate manufacturing and warehousing facilities in Abilene, Denton and Dallas, 
Texas.   We also lease sales and marketing facilities in Halstead, U. K.  and Singapore.  See table below 
for additional details on our locations. 

Approximate
Location Sq. Footage General Use

Owned:
   Dallas, Texas 48,000 Office, warehouse, and research and 

development.

   Abilene, Texas 78,000 Manufacturing –  Environmental products and 
Separation  Filtration products.

   Denton, Texas 22,000 Manufacturing – Separation Filtration products.

   Dallas, Texas 80,000 Manufacturing – Capable of Environmental and 
Separation Filtration manufacturing.  Currently, 
being leased to third party.

Leased:

   Halstead, U. K. 3,995 Sales, engineering and administration office.

   Singapore 2,300 Sales office.

 
While we believe our office and manufacturing facilities are adequate and suitable for our present 

requirements, we will continue to periodically review our space requirements and consolidate and dispose 
of, or lease or sublet facilities we no longer require and acquire new space, if our needs dictate. 

 
Pursuant to the terms of our revolving credit facility, we have agreed not to pledge as collateral our 

facilities for any other obligations.  Please see Item 7 - “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Liquidity and Capital Resources” of this Report.  
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ITEM 3.   LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 

From time to time we are involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of our 
business.  We do not believe the disposition of any current matter will have a material adverse effect on 
our consolidated financial position or results of operations.  For further discussion on various litigation 
matters, please see Item 7 - “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations – Contingencies” and Note J – “Contingencies” of our Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements of this Report.   
 
 
ITEM 4.   SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 
 

No matters require disclosure. 
 
 

PART II 
 
 
ITEM 5.   MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER 

MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 
 

Our common stock, par value $1.00 per share, is listed on the NASDAQ National Market under the 
symbol "PMFG."  The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the range of the daily high and 
low closing bid prices for our common stock as reported by NASDAQ.  

 
Fiscal Year High Low

2004 First Quarter 11.44$     9.33$       
Second Quarter 13.89      10.91      
Third Quarter 14.15      10.80      
Fourth Quarter 11.98      10.12      

2005 First Quarter 16.00$     11.85$     
Second Quarter 15.33      13.95      
Third Quarter 15.30      13.07      
Fourth Quarter 15.00      13.75       

 
 

The last reported sale price of our common stock on NASDAQ on September 21, 2005 was $16.96 
per share.  As of that date, there were approximately 116 record holders of common stock.  Cash 
dividends may be paid, from time to time, on our common stock as our Board of Directors deems 
appropriate after consideration of our continued growth rate, operating results, financial condition, cash 
requirements, compliance with the financial and other restrictive covenants of our bank credit facility, and 
such other factors as the Board of Directors deems appropriate.  The Company did not pay cash 
dividends, nor did it repurchase any of its common stock in either fiscal 2005 or fiscal 2004.  The 
Company does not have an approved stock repurchase program. 
 
 See Item 12 – Security Ownership of Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder 
Matters section of this Report for information relating to our equity compensation plans. 
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ITEM 6.   SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
    
 The following table sets forth selected financial data regarding our results of operations and financial 
position as of and for each of the years in the five-year period ended June 30, 2005, which are derived 
from our audited consolidated financial statements.  Our consolidated financial statements and notes 
thereto as of June 30, 2005 and 2004, and for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and the 
report of Grant Thornton LLP thereon, are included in Item 8 of this Report.  The selected financial data 
should be read in conjunction with Item 7 - “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included 
in Item 8 of this Report.  The share, earnings (loss) per share, dividends per share, and book value per 
share amounts have been adjusted to give effect to the two-for-one stock split effected on October 18, 
2001.  Certain earnings per share amounts may not total due to rounding.  
 

2005 % 2004 % 2003 % 2002 % 2001 %

Operating results:
Revenues 51,063$  100.0    59,761$  100.0  64,854$  100.0  94,880$  100.0  75,278$  100.0  
Cost of revenues 37,356    73.2      40,959    68.5    47,842    73.8    64,908    68.4    51,898    68.9    
Gross profit 13,707    26.8      18,802    31.5    17,012    26.2    29,972    31.6    23,380    31.1    
Operating expenses 14,409    28.2      14,929    25.0    16,429    25.3    21,047    22.2    15,636    20.8    
Operating income  (loss) (702)        (1.4)      3,873      6.5      583         0.9      8,925      9.4      7,744      10.3    
Other income (expense) 63           0.1        (24)          (0.1)     727         1.1      410         0.4      (989)        (1.3)     
Tax benefit (expense) 113         0.2        (1,447)     (2.4)     (399)        (0.6)     (3,256)     (3.4)     (2,498)     (3.3)     
Net earnings (loss) from 
continuing operations (526)        (1.1)      2,402      4.0      911         1.4      6,079      6.4      4,257      5.7      
Net loss from discontinued 
operations (66)          (0.1)      (364)        (0.6)     (1,290)     (2.0)     (1,690)     (1.8)     (1,185)     (1.6)     
Net earnings (loss) (592)$      (1.2)      2,038$    3.4      (379)$      (0.6)     4,389$    4.6      3,072$    4.1      

Basic earnings (loss) per share
Net earnings (loss) from 
continuing operations (0.17)$     0.80$      0.30$      2.04$      1.44$      
Net loss from discontinued 
operations (0.02)$     (0.12)$     (0.43)$     (0.57)$     (0.40)$     
Net earnings (loss) (0.20)$     0.68$      (0.13)$     1.47$      1.04$      

Diluted earnings (loss) per share
Net earnings (loss) from 
continuing operations (0.17)$     0.79$      0.30$      1.97$      1.42$      
Net loss from discontinued 
operations (0.02)$     (0.12)$     (0.43)$     (0.55)$     (0.39)$     
Net earnings (loss) (0.20)$     0.67$      (0.13)$     1.43$      1.02$      

Cash dividends per share -$        -$        -$        -$        0.13$      

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 3,028      3,003      2,996 2,978 2,947
Diluted 3,028      3,044      3,013 3,080 3,002

Year ended June 30,

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)   
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ITEM 6.   SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA – CONTINUED 
 

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Financial position:
Working capital 20,272$    20,529$     17,771$     17,755$    14,615$    
Current assets 35,696      35,331       39,223       42,129      41,731      
Total assets 39,804      39,475       43,763       46,889      46,156      
Current liabilities 15,424      14,802       21,452       24,374      27,116      
Long-term debt -            -             -             -           1,200        
Total liabilities 15,514      14,802       21,452       24,374      28,463      
Equity 24,290      24,673       22,311       22,515      17,693      
Book value per share 8.00$        8.19$         7.44$         7.53$        5.99$        

As of June 30,

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)   

 
 

 
ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION                
                 AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. 
 
Overview 
 

We are a global company providing environmental and separation filtration products for the 
abatement of air pollution and the removal of contaminants from gases and liquids through our two 
principal business segments – Environmental Systems and Separation Filtration Systems.  During fiscal 
year 2004, we discontinued the operations of our Boiler business.  See Item 1 – “Business – Restructuring 
and Organizational Realignment” and Note D – “Discontinued Operations” in our Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements of this Report for additional discussion on the discontinuance of this business unit. 
 

Environmental Systems.    This business segment represented approximately 40%, 47%, and 58% of 
our fiscal 2005, 2004, and 2003 revenues, respectively. The main product of the Environmental Systems 
segment is Selective Catalytic Reduction Systems, referred to as “SCR Systems”.  These environmental 
control systems are used for air pollution abatement and convert NOx emissions from exhaust gases 
caused by burning hydrocarbon fuels such as coal, gasoline, natural gas and oil, into harmless nitrogen 
and water vapor.  Along with the SCR Systems, this segment also offers systems to reduce other 
pollutants such as CO and particulate matter.  These systems are totally integrated, complete with 
instruments, controls and related valves and piping.  
 

Separation Filtration Systems.  This business segment represented approximately 60%, 53%, and 
42% of our fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 revenues, respectively.  The Separation Filtration Systems 
segment produces specialized products known as “separators” or “filters” which are used for a variety of 
purposes in cleaning gases and liquids as they move through piping systems.  These products are used 
primarily to remove solid and liquid contaminants from natural gas as well as saltwater aerosols from 
combustion intake air of shipboard gas turbine and diesel engines.  In addition, separators are also used in 
nuclear power plants to remove water from saturated steam.  
 
 Boilers.  In this discontinued business segment, we designed, engineered, manufactured and sold 
packaged boilers and other steam generating equipment.  This equipment is used to produce steam, for 
heating, drying, driving steam engines and a variety of other applications.  See also Item 1 – “Business – 
Restructuring and Organizational Realignment” of this Report for additional discussion on the 
discontinuance of this business unit during fiscal 2004. 
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Forward-Looking Statements 

 
From time to time, we make oral and written statements that may constitute “forward-looking 

statements” (rather than historical facts) as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 
1996 or by the Securities and Exchange Commission in its rules, regulations and releases, including 
statements regarding our expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions, projections or strategies regarding the 
future.  We desire to avail ourselves of the “safe harbor” provisions in the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1996 for forward-looking statements made from time to time, including, but not limited to, 
the forward-looking statements made in this Report, as well as those made in our other filings with the 
SEC.  Forward-looking statements contained in this Report are based on management’s current plans and 
expectations and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.  In the preparation of this Report, 
where such forward-looking statements appear, we have sought to accompany such statements with 
meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.  Such factors include, but are not 
limited to, the “Factors That May Affect Our Operating Results and Other Risk Factors,” as set forth 
starting on page 24 of this Report. 

 
All forward-looking statements included in this Report are based on information available to us on 

the date hereof, and we expressly disclaim any obligation to release publicly any updates or changes in 
the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of changes in events, conditions, or circumstances on 
which any forward-looking statement is based. 
 
Results of Operations – Consolidated   

 
Revenues.  The following table displays consolidated revenues (dollars in millions):    
 

Year ended June 30, 
2005 % of Total 2004 % of Total 2003 % of Total

Domestic 30.3$        59.3% 40.3$       67.4% 44.2$        68.1%
International 20.8          40.7% 19.5        32.6% 20.7         31.9%
   Total 51.1$        100.0% 59.8$       100.0% 64.9$        100.0%  
 
For fiscal 2005, revenues decreased approximately $8.7 million, or 14.6%, to $51.1 million from 

$59.8 million in fiscal 2004.  Domestic revenues decreased approximately $10.0 million, or 24.8%, from 
$40.3 million in fiscal 2004 to $30.3 million in fiscal 2005.  International revenues increased 
approximately $1.3 million, or 6.7%, from $19.5 million in fiscal 2004 to $20.8 million in fiscal 2005.  
The decline in our domestic revenues is principally related to the decline in our Environmental Systems 
sales, which continues to be impacted by the lack of new power plant construction, compliance strategy 
uncertainties at existing facilities, and competition.  The increase in our international revenues relates 
primarily to an increase of gas separation & filtration equipment sales in Canada and Latin American, due 
to the increased demand for natural gas.  See Item 7 – “Results of Operations – Segments” of this Report 
for further discussion. 
 

For fiscal 2004, revenues decreased approximately $5.1 million, or 7.9%, to $59.8 million from 
$64.9 million in fiscal 2003.  Domestic revenues decreased approximately $3.9 million, or 8.8%, from 
$44.2 million in fiscal 2003 to $40.3 million in fiscal 2004.  International revenues decreased 
approximately $1.2 million, or 5.8%, from $20.7 million in fiscal 2003 to $19.5 million in fiscal 2004.  
The decline in domestic revenues was mainly attributable to the decline in our Environmental Systems 
sales, while the decrease in our international revenues related primarily to the completion of two large 
contracts for separation & filtration products in Canada during fiscal 2003, which impact was not 

 
 11 



replicated in fiscal 2004.  The decreased Canadian sales were partially offset by increased sales in our UK 
subsidiary of our separation & filtration products in Europe and the Middle East.  See Item 7 – “Results 
of Operations – Segments” of this Report for further discussion. 

 
Gross Profit Margin.  The following table displays gross profit margin (dollars in millions): 
 

Year ended June 30,
2005 % of Sales 2004 % of Sales 2003 % of Sales

Selling margin 17.8$        34.7% 22.1$       37.0% 22.4$        34.5%
Unabsorbed manufacturing (2.2)          -4.3% (2.3)        -3.8% (1.9)          -2.9%
Warranty and start up costs (1.9)          -3.6% (1.0)        -1.7% (3.5)          -5.4%
   Gross profit margin 13.7$        26.8% 18.8$       31.5% 17.0$        26.2%

 
  Our margins during any particular period may be impacted by four primary factors: 1) sales volume, 
2) unanticipated material cost increases, 3) shifts in our product mix, and 4) start-up and warranty costs.  
Shifts in our product mix can impact our reported margins in three ways: 1) certain of our products have 
higher selling margins than others, 2) certain of our products have a higher manufactured cost component 
than others, and 3) certain markets are more competitive than others.  Consequently, shifts in the 
geographic or product composition of our sales can have a significant impact on our reported margins 
either at the selling margin level, or through a negative or positive impact on our manufacturing 
absorption. 
 

For fiscal 2005, our gross profit margin decreased approximately $5.1 million, or 27.1%, from $18.8 
million in fiscal 2004 to $13.7 million in fiscal 2005.  Our gross profit, as a percentage of sales, decreased 
from 31.5% in fiscal 2004 to 26.8% in fiscal 2005, or approximately 14.9%.  Our selling margin (our 
margin before the allocation of our unabsorbed manufacturing overhead and start-up and warranty costs), 
as a percentage of sales, decreased from 37.0% in fiscal 2004 to 34.7% in fiscal 2005, or 6.2%.  The 
decline in our selling margin during the period can be attributed to a continued shift in the composition of 
our sales (our Environmental System sales continue to decline) and higher than anticipated raw material 
costs associated with our Nuclear/Marine products (see Segment Profit – Separation Filtration Systems 
following for further discussion).  In addition to the aforementioned factors, our gross profit margin 
during the period was impacted by an increase in our unabsorbed manufacturing costs, which increased, 
as a percentage of sales, from 3.8% in fiscal 2004 to 4.3% in fiscal 2005, and an increase in our warranty 
and start-up costs, which increased, as a percentage of sales, from 1.7% in fiscal 2004 to 3.6% in fiscal 
2005.  The increase in our unabsorbed manufacturing costs was related to the decrease in our sales 
volume, because on a dollar basis these costs remained relatively constant during the periods.  The 
increase in our start-up and warranty costs was related to higher than anticipated start-up costs associated 
with commissioning certain Environmental System projects (see Segment Profits – Environmental 
Systems following for further discussion). 

 
For fiscal 2004, our gross profit margin increased approximately $1.8 million, or 10.6%, from $17.0 

million in fiscal 2003 to $18.8 million in fiscal 2004.  Gross profit margin, as a percentage of sales, 
increased from 26.2% for fiscal 2003 to 31.5% for fiscal 2004.  Our margins during fiscal 2004 were 
favorably impacted by a significant reduction in our start-up and warranty costs, which decreased 
approximately $2.5 million, or 71.4%, from $3.5 million in fiscal 2003 to $1.0 million in fiscal 2004, 
which likely resulted from our continued emphasis on improved project execution.  This improvement 
was partially offset by higher unabsorbed manufacturing costs during the period attributable to our 
decreased sales volume.  In addition to the foregoing, our margins were negatively impacted by shifts in 
our sales mix, as our Environmental Systems revenues declined from 58% of our total revenues in fiscal 
2003 to 47% in fiscal 2004.  The negative impact associated with the decline in our Environmental 
Systems revenue during fiscal 2004, was partially offset by a 103% increase in our nuclear/marine 
revenues during the period.    
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Operating Expenses.  The following table displays operating expenses (dollars in millions): 
 

Year ended June 30,
2005 % of Sales 2004 % of Sales 2003 % of Sales

Sales and marketing 6.0$    11.8% 6.2$    10.4% 5.9$     9.1%
Engineering & project management 3.6      7.1% 4.1     6.9% 5.2       8.0%
General and administrative 4.8      9.3% 4.6     7.7% 4.8       7.5%
Restructuring expense -     0.0% -    0.0% 0.5       0.7%
   Total operating expenses 14.4$  28.2% 14.9$  25.0% 16.4$   25.3%  

 
 
For fiscal 2005, our operating expenses from continuing operations decreased by approximately 

$500,000, or 3.5%, from $14.9 million in fiscal 2004 to $14.4 million in fiscal 2005.  While these 
expenses declined on a dollar-basis, as a percentage of sales, due to the decline in our sales volume, these 
expenses actually increased from 25.0% in fiscal 2004 to 28.2% in fiscal 2005.  On a comparative basis, 
our sales and marketing expenses decreased from $6.2 million in fiscal 2004 to $6.0 million in fiscal 2005 
due primarily to a decrease in our commission expense during the current period, which is directly related 
to the decrease in our revenue.  Our engineering and project management expense decreased from $4.1 
million in fiscal 2004 to $3.6 million in fiscal 2005 and continues to relate to our cost control measures 
and product standardization activities started in fiscal 2004.  Our general and administrative expenses 
increased from $4.6 million in fiscal 2004 to $4.8 million in fiscal 2005 due primarily to the increased 
costs of compliance with SEC and Nasdaq Stock Market mandates, which costs are expected to continue 
to increase as the Company complies with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (see Item 9A – 
Controls and Procedures section of the Report for further discussion).       

 
For fiscal 2004, operating expenses from continuing operations decreased by approximately $1.5 

million or 9.1%, from $16.4 million for fiscal 2003 to $14.9 million for fiscal 2004.  Operating expenses, 
as a percentage of sales, were 25.0% for fiscal 2004, compared to 25.3% for fiscal 2003.  On a 
comparative basis, our sales and marketing expenses increased from $5.9 million to $6.2 million, our 
engineering and project management expenses decreased from $5.2 million to $4.1 million, and our 
general and administrative expenses (including restructuring expenses in fiscal 2003) decreased from $5.3 
million  to $4.6 million  The increase in our sales and marketing expenses  related primarily to an increase 
in our commission expense during the period, which increase is directly related to the increase in our 
Separation Filtration Systems revenues, because this segment tends to have a higher associated 
commission rate than our Environmental Systems segment.  The decrease in engineering and project 
management expenses relates to our cost control measures and product standardization initiative started 
during fiscal year 2004, and to the decline in our Environmental Systems revenues, which generally are 
more engineering intensive than our Separation Filtration Systems revenues.  The decrease in general and 
administrative expenses related primarily to the costs in fiscal 2003 associated with our restructuring, 
which savings were partially offset by the higher public company related expenses in fiscal 2004.   
 

Other Income and Expense  
 
For fiscal 2005, other income and expense items changed by approximately $87,000, from expense 

of approximately $24,000 for fiscal 2004 to income of approximately $63,000 for fiscal 2005.  This 
change was primarily due to a reduction in our foreign currency exchange losses associated with our UK 
operations of approximately $101,000 during fiscal 2004 compared to $22,000 during fiscal 2005. 

 
For fiscal 2004, other income and expense items changed by approximately $751,000, from income 

of approximately $727,000 for fiscal 2003 to expense of $24,000 for fiscal 2004.  During fiscal 2003, we 
recognized a gain of approximately $473,000 on the sale of our Wylie, Texas real property and other 
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assets.  We also realized foreign currency exchange losses associated with our UK operations of 
approximately $101,000 during fiscal 2004 compared to exchange gains of approximately $146,000 in 
fiscal 2003. 

 
Income Taxes   
 
The Company’s effective income tax rate for continuing operations was approximately 17.7%, 

37.6% and 30.5% in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  The rate in fiscal 2005 was impacted by 
the recording of a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax asset associated with a state operating 
loss carry-forward of a subsidiary during fiscal 2005.  The Company determined, in the fourth quarter, 
that it was more probable than not, that the subsidiary would be unable to generate sufficient taxable 
income to fully utilize the net operating loss carry-forward prior to its expiration.  As such, the Company 
recorded a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax asset to its anticipated realizable value, which 
resulted in a charge to deferred tax expense in the current period of approximately $149,000.   
Additionally, the fiscal 2005 tax rate was impacted by increased foreign tax related benefits. The 
increased tax rate in fiscal 2004 over fiscal 2003 is due primarily to our increased state income tax 
expense during the year and reduced foreign tax related benefits.  See Note M – “Income Taxes,” to our 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements attached to this Report for further explanation.  

 
Net Earnings (Loss) from Continuing Operations   
 
 Our net earnings from continuing operations decreased by approximately $2.9 million, or 121.9%, 

from earnings of $2.4 million, or 4.0% of sales, for fiscal 2004, to a loss of $526,000, or (1.0%) of sales, 
for fiscal 2005 and related primarily to the impact associated with our decrease in revenues and our 
increased start-up and warranty costs during the period.  Basic earnings (loss) per share decreased from 
earnings of $0.80 per share for fiscal 2004, to a loss of ($0.17) per share for fiscal 2005.  Diluted earnings 
(loss) per share decreased from earnings of $0.79 per share for fiscal 2004, to a loss of ($0.17) per share 
for fiscal 2005.   

 
In 2004 our net earnings from continuing operations increased by approximately $1.5 million, or 

166.7%, from $911,000, or 1.4% of sales, for fiscal 2003, to $2.4 million, or 4.0% of sales, for fiscal 
2004.  Basic earnings per share increased from $0.30 per share for fiscal 2003, to $0.80 per share for 
fiscal 2004.  Diluted earnings per share increased from $0.30 per share for fiscal 2003, to $0.79 per share 
for fiscal 2004.   

 
Discontinued Operations   
 
Our net loss from discontinued operations for fiscal 2005 was approximately $66,000 compared to a 

net loss of $364,000 for fiscal 2004.  Our net loss in fiscal 2005 fiscal year related primarily to costs 
associated with the start-up and warranty costs of certain boiler projects.  The Company has a remaining 
reserve of approximately $106,000 at June 30, 2005, which was established based on the most current 
information available and historical experience.  While we believe our reserve is adequate and the 
judgment applied is appropriate, due to a number of factors, our estimated liability could differ from our 
actual costs incurred (see “Critical Accounting Policies – Product Warranties” and Note J – 
“Contingencies” to our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Report).  Basic and diluted 
loss per share from discontinued operations was ($0.02) per share for fiscal 2005, compared to a loss of 
($0.12) per share for fiscal 2004.   

 
Our net loss from discontinued operations for the year ended June 30, 2004 was approximately 

$364,000 compared to a net loss of $1.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2003.  Our net loss in fiscal 
2004 related primarily to costs associated with the start-up and commissioning of projects that were not 
commissioned by June 30, 2003.  The Company had established a reserve of approximately $300,000 at 
June 30, 2004, based on its estimate of these costs given the then most current information available and 



historical experience.  Also included in our net loss for the year ended June 30, 2004 was a net gain 
related to the disposal of our Boiler operation of approximately $92,000 ($140,000 gain less taxes of 
$48,000). Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations was ($0.12) per share for fiscal 
2004, compared to a loss of ($0.43) per share for fiscal 2003.   

 
Net Earnings (Loss)   
 
 Our net earnings for fiscal 2004 of approximately $2.0 million, or 3.4% of sales, decreased 

approximately $2.6 million to a net loss of $592,000, or 1.2% of sales. Basic earnings (loss) per share 
decreased from earnings of approximately $0.68 per share for fiscal 2004, to a loss of ($0.20) per share 
for fiscal 2005.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share decreased from earnings of approximately $0.67 per 
share for fiscal 2004, to a loss of ($0.20) per share for fiscal 2005. 

 
Our net earnings increased approximately $2.4 million from a net loss of $379,000, or 0.6% of sales, 

for fiscal 2003, to net earnings of approximately $2.0 million, or 3.4% of sales, for fiscal 2004.  Basic 
earnings (loss) per share increased from a loss of ($0.13) per share for fiscal 2003, to earnings of $0.68 
per share for fiscal 2004.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share increased from a loss of ($0.13) per share for 
fiscal 2003, to earnings of $0.67 per share for fiscal 2004.  

 
Results of Operations – Segments   
 

Currently we are organized along two lines of business:  Environmental Systems, and Separation 
Filtration Systems.  The Company had three reportable segments – Environmental Systems, Separation 
Filtration Systems, and Boilers in fiscal 2003.  The Boiler segment was discontinued and its assets sold 
during the first quarter of fiscal 2004.  See Note D – “Discontinued Operations” in the Notes to our 
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion on the Boiler segment.  

 
Environmental Systems This business segment represented approximately 40%, 47% and 58% of our 

revenues for fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004, and fiscal 2003, respectively. The main product of the 
Environmental Systems segment is Selective Catalytic Reduction Systems, referred to as “SCR Systems”.  
These environmental control systems are used for air pollution abatement and convert NOx emissions 
from exhaust gases caused by burning hydrocarbon fuels such as coal, gasoline, natural gas and oil, into 
harmless nitrogen and water vapor.  Along with the SCR Systems, this segment also offers systems to 
reduce other pollutants such as CO and particulate matter.  These systems are totally integrated, complete 
with instruments, controls and related valves and piping.  
 

Separation Filtration Systems This business segment represented approximately 60%, 53% and 42% 
of our revenues for fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004, and fiscal 2003, respectively.  The Separation Filtration 
Systems segment produces specialized products known as “separators” or “filters” which are used for a 
variety of purposes in cleaning gases and liquids as they move through piping systems.  These products 
are used primarily to remove solid and liquid contaminants from natural gas as well as saltwater aerosols 
from combustion intake air of shipboard gas turbine and diesel engines.  In addition, separators are also 
used in nuclear power plants to remove water from saturated steam.  

 
Revenue.  The following table displays revenues by reportable segment (dollars in thousands): 
 

2005 % 2004 % 2003 %

Environmental Systems 20,591$   40.3% 28,096$   47.0% 37,511$   57.8%
Separation Filtration Systems 30,472     59.7% 31,665     53.0% 27,343     42.2%
   Total 51,063$  100.0% 59,761$  100.0% 64,854$   100.0%

Year ended June 30,
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Revenues from Environmental Systems decreased by approximately $7.5 million, or 26.7%, in fiscal 
2005, and decreased by approximately $9.4 million, or 25.1%, in fiscal 2004.  Our Environmental 
Systems segment continues to be impacted by the lack of new power plant construction, compliance 
strategy uncertainties at existing facilities, and competition.  While we have seen a decline in our 
Environmental Systems sales over the past several years, the increasing demand for energy and shrinking 
electricity generation reserves should result in new power plant construction which will likely require 
NOx reduction equipment.  In addition, as compliance deadlines to air regulations come into effect over 
the next three to five years, we would expect that spending for NOx reduction systems will increase as 
compliance strategies at existing facilities become more certain.  We continue to see a steady increase to 
our proposal levels, particularly for new power in selected regions and anticipated compliance projects 
(see Market Outlook following for further discussion).   

 
Separation Filtration Systems revenues decreased by approximately $1.2 million, or 3.8% in fiscal 

2005 and increased by approximately $4.3 million, or 15.8% in fiscal 2004.  We saw our domestic 
Separation Filtration Systems revenues decrease by approximately $2.5 million, or 17.1% in fiscal 2005, 
compared to an increase of $4.0 million, or 37.8% for fiscal 2004.  Our international revenues increased 
approximately $1.3 million, or 7.4% in fiscal 2005, compared to an increase of $367,000 or 2.2% in fiscal 
2004.  The decrease in our domestic revenues, during fiscal 2005, is attributed primarily to a decrease in 
the sales of our gas separation & filtration products, due to a decline in domestic fuel gas conditioning 
system projects that are used in new gas-fired power plants.  This decrease has been partially offset by the 
increase in our nuclear sales, which increase is attributable to life extension and power up-rate projects at 
domestic nuclear power plants.  The increase in our domestic revenues during fiscal 2004 related 
primarily to an increase in our nuclear/marine sales.  The increase in our international revenues during 
fiscal 2005 related primarily to increased sales by our domestic operations of our gas separation & 
filtration products into the Canadian and Latin American markets, likely due to the increased domestic 
demand for natural gas.  The increase in our international sales during fiscal 2004 related primarily to the 
increased sales by our UK subsidiary of our gas separation & filtration products to Europe and the Middle 
East, likely due to the increased global demand for natural gas. 

 
 
Segment Profit   The following table displays profit by reportable segment (dollars in thousands): 
 
 

2005 2004 2003

Environmental Systems 2,309$       4,133$       3,191$       
Separation Filtration Systems 1,759         4,371         2,708         

Total 4,068         8,504         5,899         
Unallocated overhead (4,770)        (4,631)        (5,316)        
   Operating income (loss) (702)$        3,873$      583$          

Year ended June 30,

 
 
 
Segment profit and loss is based on revenue less direct expenses of the segment before allocation of 

general, administrative, research and development costs.  All inter-company transfers between segments 
have been eliminated.  The Company allocates all costs associated with the design, manufacture, and sale 
of its products to each segment.  The Company does not allocate general and administrative expenses 
(“unallocated overhead”) on a segment basis for internal management reporting.  
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Environmental Systems.   Environmental Systems profit in fiscal 2005 decreased approximately $1.8 

million, or 44.1% compared to fiscal 2004, while the profit in fiscal 2004 increased approximately 
$942,000, or 29.5% compared to fiscal 2003.  As a percentage of Environmental Systems revenue, profit 
in Environmental Systems was 11.2%, 14.7% and 8.5% in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  The 
major impacts to Environmental Systems profit margins, during the period, related to the following: 

  
1.  Start-up and warranty expenses, as a percentage of sales.  Actual start-up and 

warranty expenses were approximately $1.8 million, $940,000, and $3.4 million in 
fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004, and fiscal 2003, respectively.  Start-up and warranty 
expenses as a percentage of sales were approximately 8.5%, 3.3% and 9.2% in fiscal 
2005, fiscal 2004, and fiscal 2003, respectively.  The increase in expense during 
fiscal 2005 relates predominately to two projects.  These projects were high 
temperature, ultra-low NOx applications that required extensive modifications to 
accommodate the customer’s operating conditions and meet their expectations.  In 
addition to these modification costs, we are potentially liable for project delays on 
each of these projects. In connection therewith, while we feel we have reasonable 
defenses, we have reserved for our assessment of the damages associated with such 
delays.  The decrease in fiscal 2004 expenses reflects the improvement our project 
execution associated with our fiscal year 2004 quality control initiatives.  

 
2. Operational expenses, as a percentage of sales.  As part of our cost control measures 

instituted in connection with our fiscal 2003 reorganization and realignment 
initiative, our operational expenses have continued to decline from approximately 
$5.6 million in fiscal 2003, to $4.4 million in fiscal 2004 and $3.8 million in fiscal 
2005.  However, while these expenses have declined on a dollar-basis, due to the 
decline in this segment’s revenues exceeding its expense reductions over these 
periods, the expenses have, as a percentage of sales, actually increased from 14.9% in 
fiscal 2003, to 15.5% in fiscal 2004 and 18.4% in fiscal 2005. 

 
3. Corrections associated with control deficiencies.  As discussed under Part II – Item 

9A “Controls and Procedures” of this Report, we discovered certain control 
deficiencies during the second quarter of fiscal 2005.  In connection therewith, 
certain correcting adjustments were recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2005 to 
our previously reported financial results.  These adjustments, while immaterial in the 
aggregate to both our previously reported financial results and to the quarter, did 
have an impact on our reported segment profit.  Specifically, this correction increased 
our Environmental Systems reported segment profits for fiscal 2005 by 
approximately $349,000, or 1.7 %. 

 
Separation Filtration Systems.   Separation Filtration Systems profit in fiscal 2005 decreased 

approximately $2.6 million or 59.8% compared to fiscal 2004.  Separation Filtration Systems profit in 
fiscal 2004 increased approximately $1.7 million, or 61.4% compared to fiscal 2003.  As a percentage of 
Separation Filtration Systems revenue, profit in Separation Filtration Systems was 5.8%, 13.8% and 9.9% 
in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  The changes in the Separation Filtration Systems profit 
margins relates primarily to the following:  

 
1. Significant material price increases.  Due to heavy worldwide demand, steel prices 

(most notably stainless steel prices) have increased considerably over the past year 
(approximately 30% in the past 18 months).  Stainless steel is a significant material 
expense in the production of our nuclear/marine separation products.  Most of the 
contracts governing the sale of these products are long-term, fixed-priced contracts 
which, in a volatile environment, increases our risks to margin deterioration.  We 
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attempt to stabilize our costs by ordering materials at the time an order is received.  
However, on long-term deliverable contracts (i.e., over 3 years), this may not always 
be possible.  To mitigate our risk under these contracts, we attempt to negotiate 
escalation provisions.  However, such provisions do not always cover our full 
exposure.  See Factors That May Affect Our Operating Results and Other Risk 
Factors – “We enter into fixed-priced contracts.  If our actual costs exceed our 
original estimates, our profits will be reduced.” – page 25 of this Report.  

 
2. Corrections associated with control deficiencies.  As discussed under Part II – Item 

9A “Controls and Procedures” of this Report, our management discovered certain 
control deficiencies during the second quarter of fiscal 2005.  In connection 
therewith, certain correcting adjustments were recorded in the second quarter of 
fiscal 2005 to our previously reported financial results.  These adjustments, while 
immaterial in aggregate to both our previously reported financial results and to the 
quarter, did have a significant impact on our reported segment profit.  Specifically, 
this correction decreased our Separation Filtration Systems reported segment profits 
for fiscal 2005 by approximately $452,000, or 1.5 %. 

 
3.  Operational expenses, as a percentage of sales.  Actual operational expenses were 

approximately $5.8 million, $5.9 million, and $5.5 million in fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004, 
and fiscal 2003, respectively.  Operational expenses as a percentage of sales were 
approximately 19.2%, 18.7%, and 20.2% in fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004, and fiscal 2003, 
respectively.   

 
Market Outlook  

 
Environmental Systems.  Although our Environmental Systems business has been impacted by the 

lack of new power plant construction and compliance strategy uncertainties at existing facilities, we 
would expect that as compliance deadlines to air regulations come into effect over the next three to five 
years and users implement their compliance plans, spending for NOx reduction systems will increase.  
State Implementation Plans, the Clean Air Interstate Rule, and consent decrees, all create a potentially 
positive environment for our Environmental Systems.  In addition, increasing energy demand is beginning 
to require the construction of new power plants, which would require some type of a NOx reduction 
system.  In the West and the East, new gas-fired plants will likely be constructed to meet peak electricity 
demand.  New coal-fired power plants, applied to base-load operations, are planned for construction over 
the next several years.  The increasing demand for natural gas is creating potential opportunities at LNG 
receiving terminals, as new on-site power plants may need to be built to provide the extensive energy 
needed for the re-gasification process.  We are also seeing an increase in international opportunities for 
NOx reduction systems. 

 
Separation Filtration Systems.  The strong worldwide energy demand is creating renewed 

opportunities for our separation and filtration products around the world.  New pipelines, gas processing 
facilities, chemical and petrochemical process plants, and LNG plants and terminals are driving growth of 
this business segment.  The domestic market for our nuclear products continues to remain strong, as 
nuclear power plants continue to invest in life extension and power up-rate projects, in connection with 
their license renewals.  The construction of new nuclear power plants in China, Europe and South Korea 
is also creating opportunities for our nuclear steam-dryers. 

 
 

Contingencies 
 

On March 19, 2004, we received notice that an adversary proceeding was initiated by Enron Corp. 
and National Energy Production Corporation in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern 
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District of New York against PMC Acquisition, Inc., a subsidiary that operated our discontinued Boiler 
business under the name ABCO Industries.  The plaintiffs allege that certain accounts receivable 
payments paid to ABCO were avoidable transfers under the Bankruptcy Code and are seeking to recover 
approximately $1 million from ABCO.  We believe that all, or a majority of the payments may fail to 
meet the applicable standards for avoidance under the Bankruptcy Code and other applicable law, or that 
a number of defenses may be able to be asserted that may negate any recovery by the plaintiffs.  We 
intend to vigorously defend against the lawsuit and we believe the likelihood of loss, at this time, is not 
probable. 
 
 On April 25, 2005, we received notice that we may have received preferential transfers 
amounting to approximately $900,000 in connection with the Chapter 11 filing by Erie Power 
Technologies, Inc.  Based on our preliminary investigation, we believe that all, or a majority of the 
payments received may fail to meet the applicable standards for avoidance under the Bankruptcy Code 
and other applicable law, or that a number of defenses may be able to be asserted that may negate any 
recovery by the plaintiffs.  We intend to vigorously defend against the lawsuit and we believe the 
likelihood of loss, at this time, is not probable. 
 

From time to time we are involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of our 
business.  We do not believe the disposition of any current matter will have a material adverse effect on 
our consolidated financial position or its results of operations. 
 
Backlog 

 
The Company’s backlog of unfilled orders was approximately $34 million at both June 30, 2005 and 

June 30, 2004.  At June 30, 2005, approximately 74% of our backlog was scheduled to be completed 
during fiscal year 2006, compared to 70% at June 30, 2004.  Our backlog continues to be impacted by the 
slow down in new power plant construction associated with our Environmental Systems business.  The 
increased global demand for natural gas and life extension and power up-rate projects at nuclear power 
plants has resulted in a significant strengthening in our Separation Filtration backlog.  See Item 7 – 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial and Results of Operations – Market Outlook” for 
additional discussion on factors affecting our backlog and our future expectations. 

     
Financial Position  
 

Assets.   Total assets increased by approximately $329,000, or 0.8%, from $39.5 million at June 30, 
2004, to $39.9 million at June 30, 2005.  We held cash and cash equivalents of approximately $8.3 
million, had working capital of approximately $20.3 million, and a current liquidity ratio of 
approximately 2.3-to-1.0 at June 30, 2005.    This compares with cash and cash equivalents of $4.1 
million, $20.5 million in working capital, and a current liquidity ratio of 2.4-to-1.0 at June 30, 2004.  The 
relative stability of our assets and our liquidity ratio, during the fiscal year, resulted primarily from the 
Company’s ability to properly manage short-term assets while experiencing the relative downturn. 

  
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity.   Total liabilities increased by approximately $712,000, or 

4.8%, from $14.8 million at June 30, 2004 to $15.5 million at June 30, 2005.  This increase in liabilities 
related primarily to an increase in our billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts of 
approximately $1.7 million (see “Liquidity and Capital Resources” of Item 7 of this Report), and our 
accrued expenses of approximately $1.1 million, offset by a decrease in our trade accounts payable and 
other payable items of approximately $2.2 million.  The decrease in our equity of approximately 
$383,000, or 1.6%, from $24.7 million at June 30, 2004 to $24.3 million at June 30, 2005 resulted 
primarily from our loss during the period.  Our debt (total liabilities)-to-equity ratio increased from .60-
to-1.0 at June 30, 2004 to .64-to-1.0 at June 30, 2005, reflecting a 4.2% increase in our liabilities and a 
1.6% decrease in our equity during the period. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources  
 

Our cash and cash equivalents were $8.3 million as of June 30, 2005, compared to $4.1 million at 
June 30, 2004.  Cash provided by operating activities during fiscal year 2005 was approximately $5.0 
million, compared to cash used in operating activities during fiscal 2004 of approximately $4.3 million 
and cash provided by operating activities during fiscal 2003 of approximately $5.7 million. 
 

Because we are engaged in the business of manufacturing custom systems, our progress billing 
practices are event-oriented rather than date-oriented, and vary from contract to contract.  We customarily 
bill our customers upon the occurrence of project milestones.  Billings to customers affect the balance of 
billings in excess of costs and earnings or the balance of cost and earnings in excess of billings, as well as 
the balance of accounts receivable. Consequently, we focus on the net amount of these accounts along 
with accounts payable, to determine our management of working capital.  At June 30, 2005, the balance 
of these working capital accounts was approximately $11.1 million compared to approximately $15.9 
million at June 30, 2004, reflecting a decrease of our investment in these working capital items of 
approximately $4.8 million.   Generally, a contract will either allow for amounts to be billed upon 
shipment or on a progress basis based on the attainment of certain milestones.  During the 2005 fiscal 
year, a greater percentage of the Company’s contracts in progress called for billings upon the attainment 
of certain milestones versus project shipment, which resulted in the decrease in our investment in these 
working capital accounts.  In addition, during fiscal 2005, funds were consumed by our operating loss, 
and used to reduce our other assets and were provided by an overall increase in our accrued expenses and 
other payables. 

 
Cash used in investing activities was approximately $897,000 for fiscal year 2005, compared to cash 

used by investing activities of approximately $98,000 for fiscal 2004, and cash provided in fiscal 2003 of 
approximately $423,000.  The use of this cash during fiscal 2005 related primarily to the acquisition of 
certain composite louver technology and equipment for our marine product line, capital refurbishments of 
our Denton and Abilene, Texas manufacturing facilities, and software and hardware upgrades to our 
computer system.  The use of this cash during fiscal 2004 related primarily to refurbishment of our 
Denton and Abilene, Texas manufacturing facilities, offset by the redemption of short term investments.  
The cash provided during the 2003 fiscal year derived primarily from the sale of 32 acres of undeveloped 
land in Wylie, Texas.   
 

Cash provided by financing activities was approximately $140,000, $98,000 and $64,000 during 
fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and related to the proceeds from the issuance of common stock 
pursuant to employee stock options.   

 
Cash used by our discontinued operations during fiscal 2005 was approximately $41,000, compared 

to cash provided from discontinued operations of approximately $1.8 million in fiscal 2004 and cash used 
of approximately 893,000 in fiscal 2003.  The cash provided during fiscal 2004 can be attributed to the 
collection of a significant receivable due from a customer. 
 
 As a result of the above factors, our cash and cash equivalents during fiscal year 2005 increased by 
approximately $4.2 million, compared to a decrease of approximately $2.6 million and an increase of 
approximately $5.3 million in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively. 
 

On October 31, 2003, we entered into a $12.5 million revolving credit facility for working capital 
requirements that expires on October 31, 2006.  The facility carries a floating interest rate based on the 
prime or Euro rate plus or minus an applicable margin, and is secured by substantially all our domestic 
assets.  As if June 30, 2005, the applicable rate was Euro plus 1.75% (5.09%).  At June 30, 2005, we had 
approximately $2.8 million outstanding under stand-by letters of credit and no loans outstanding, leaving 



us a maximum availability under our credit facility of approximately $9.7 million (actual availability at 
June 30, 2005 approximately $5.2 million).  The facility contains financial covenants, certain restrictions 
on capital expenditures, acquisitions, asset dispositions, dividends and additional debt, as well as other 
customary covenants.  As of June 30, 2005, the Company was in compliance with all financial and other 
covenants under the credit facility.   

 
In addition, our UK subsidiary has a £2.4 million (approximately $4.3 million) debenture agreement 

used to facilitate the issuances of bank guarantees.  This facility is secured by substantially all of the UK 
subsidiary assets, and is backed by a Peerless stand-by letter of credit of £1.0 million (approximately $1.8 
million, which is included in the $2.8 million outstanding under the Company’s $12.5 million revolving 
credit facility described above) and expires on October 1, 2005.  At June 30, 2005, there was 
approximately £2.1 million (approximately $3.8 million) outstanding under this facility, leaving 
availability of approximately £300,000 (approximately $538,000).   

 
We believe we maintain adequate liquidity to support existing operations and planned growth, as 

well as to continue operations during reasonable periods of unanticipated adversity.   
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual Obligations   
 

The following table summarizes the indicated contractual obligations and other commitments of the 
Company as of June 30, 2005.  The Company has no off-balance-sheet arrangements in place as of June 
30, 2005. 

 
Payments Due by Period

Less Than 1 to 3 3 to 5 After 5
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years Years
Operating lease obligations 283$        141$         142$        -$          -$         
Purchase obligations (1) 9,024       9,024       -          -            -          
Stand-by letters of credit (2) 6,633       4,326       2,132      175           -          

Total contractual obligations 15,940$   13,491$    2,274$     175$         -$         

 
 

(1) Purchase obligations in the table above represent the value of open purchase orders as of June 
30, 2005.  We believe that some of these obligations could be canceled for payment of a nominal 
penalty, or no penalty; however, the amount of open purchase orders that could be canceled 
under such terms is difficult to quantify.  In addition, the Company generally has contracts with 
its customers that minimize its exposure to losses for materials purchased within lead-times 
necessary to meet customer forecasts.  

 
 
(2) Included in the amount of stand-by letters of credit is an approximately $1.8 million stand-by 

letter of credit issued on the behalf of Peerless to guarantee the debenture agreement of its 
subsidiary, Peerless Europe Limited.  

 
Critical Accounting Policies 
 

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period.  Our estimates, judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated based on available 
information and experience.  Because of the use of estimates inherent in the financial reporting process, 
actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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Certain of our accounting policies require a higher degree of judgment than others in their 

application.  These include revenue recognition on long-term contracts, accrual for estimated warranty 
costs, allowance for doubtful accounts, and reserve for obsolete and slow moving inventory.  Our policies 
and related procedures for these items are summarized below.   
 

Revenue Recognition.  We provide products under long-term, generally fixed-priced, contracts that 
may extend up to 18 months, or longer, in duration.  In connection with these contracts, we follow the 
guidance contained in AICPA Statement of Position (“SOP”) 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of 
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.”  SOP 81-1 requires the use of percentage-of-
completion accounting for long-term contracts that contain enforceable rights regarding services to be 
provided and received by the contracting parties, consideration to be exchanged, and the manner and 
terms of settlement, assuming reasonably dependable estimates of revenues and expenses can be made.  
The percentage-of-completion methodology generally results in the recognition of reasonably consistent 
profit margins over the life of a contract.  Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the 
percentage of construction cost completed, generally on a cumulative cost to total cost basis.   Cumulative 
revenues recognized may be less or greater than cumulative costs and profits billed at any point in time 
during a contract’s term.  The resulting difference is recognized as “costs and earnings in excess of 
billings on uncompleted contracts” or “billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts.” 
 

When using the percentage-of-completion method, we must be able to accurately estimate the total 
costs we expect to incur on a project in order to record the proper amount of revenues for that period.  We 
continually update our estimates of costs and status of each project with our subcontractors and our 
manufacturing plants.  If it is determined that a loss will result from the performance of a contract, the 
entire amount of the loss is charged against income when it is determined.  The impact of revisions in 
contract estimates are recognized on a cumulative basis in the period in which the revisions are made.  In 
addition, significant portions of our costs are subcontracted under fixed-priced arrangements, thereby 
reducing the risk of significant cost overruns on any given project.  However, a number of internal and 
external factors, including labor rates, plant utilization factors, future material prices, changes in customer 
specifications, and other factors can affect our cost estimates.  While we attempt to reduce the risk 
relating to revenue and cost estimates in percentage-of-completion models through corporate policy and 
approval and monitoring processes, any estimation process, including that used in preparing contract 
accounting models, involves inherent risk.      

 
Product Warranties.  We offer warranty periods of various lengths to our customers depending upon 

the specific product and terms of the customer agreement.  We typically negotiate varying terms 
regarding warranty coverage and length of warranty depending upon the product involved and customary 
practices.  In general, our warranties require us to repair or replace defective products during the warranty 
period at no cost to the customer.  We attempt to obtain back-up concurrent warranties for major 
component parts from our suppliers.  As of each balance sheet date, we record an estimate for warranty 
related costs for products sold based on historical experience, expectation of future conditions and the 
extent of back-up concurrent supplier warranties in place.  While we believe that our estimated warranty 
reserve is adequate and the judgment applied is appropriate, due to a number of factors our estimated 
liability for product warranties could differ from actual warranty costs incurred in the future. 

  
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.  We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts to reflect 

estimated losses resulting from the inability of customers to make required payments.  On an on-going 
basis, we evaluate the collectability of accounts receivable based upon historical collection trends, current 
economic factors, and the assessment of the collectability of specific accounts.  We evaluate the 
collectability of specific accounts using a combination of factors, including the age of the outstanding 
balances, evaluation of customers’ current and past financial condition and credit scores, recent payment 
history, current economic environment, discussions with our project managers, and discussions with the 
customers directly.    
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Reserve for Obsolete and Slow-Moving Inventory.  Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market and 

are reduced by a reserve for excess and potentially obsolete inventories.  We regularly review inventory values on 
hand, using specific aging categories, and records a provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory based on 
historical usage and estimated future usage.  As actual future demand or market conditions may vary from those 
projected by us, adjustments to our inventory valuations may be required. 
 

Deferred Tax Asset – Valuation Allowance.  We have a significant amount of net deferred tax assets, which 
consisted principally of a subsidiary state net operating loss carry-forward and temporary differences resulting 
from differences in the tax and book basis of certain assets and liabilities.  The state net operating loss carry-
forward expires, if unused, as follows: $365,000 in 2006; $3.3 million in 2007; $2.1 million in 2008; $1.9 million 
in 2009; and, $210,000 in 2010.  Based on evaluations performed by the us in the fourth quarter, we determined 
that it is more likely than not, that insufficient taxable income will be generated by the subsidiary to fully utilize 
the state operating loss carry-forward prior to its expirations, and we have accordingly recorded a valuation 
allowance to reduce the corresponding deferred tax asset to its anticipated net realizable value (see Note M to the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).  As actual future factors or conditions may vary from those 
projected by us, adjustments to our valuation allowance may be required.     
 
New Accounting Standards   
 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R) Share Based Payment.  This statement establishes 
standards for the accounting of transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods and 
services, primarily with respect to accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in 
share-based payment transactions.  It also addresses transactions in which an entity incurs liabilities in exchange 
for goods and services that are based on the fair value of the entity's equity instruments or that may be settled by 
the issuance of those equity instruments.  Entities will be required to measure the cost of employee services 
received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award (with 
limited exceptions).  That cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide 
service in exchange for the award (usually the vesting period).  The grant-date fair value of employee share 
options and similar instruments will be estimated using option-pricing models.  If an equity award is modified 
after the grant date, incremental compensation cost will be recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the fair 
value of the modified award over the fair value of the original award immediately before the modification.  This 
statement is effective for the first fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2005.  We will adopt Statement No. 123(R) 
beginning with our first quarter of fiscal 2006.  The statement requires that we use either the modified-prospective 
method or modified retrospective method.  Under the modified-prospective method, we must recognize 
compensation cost for all awards subsequent to adopting the standard and for the unvested portion of previously 
granted awards outstanding upon adoption. Under the modified retrospective method, we must restate our 
previously issued financial statements to recognize the amounts we previously calculated and reported on a pro-
forma basis, as if the prior standard had been adopted. Under both methods, the statement permits the use of either 
the straight-line or an accelerated method to amortize the cost as an expense for awards with graded vesting.  
Currently, we follow APB No. 25 which does not require the recognition of compensation expense relating to the 
issuance of stock options so long as the quoted market price of our stock at the date of grant is less than or equal 
to the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. We have evaluated the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) 
and have determined that the adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on our financial 
position or the results of our operations. 
 

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs (SFAS 151).  SFAS 151 requires that 
abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and spoilage be recognized as current-period 
charges.  Further, SFAS 151 requires the allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on the 
normal capacity of the production facilities.  Unallocated overheads must be recognized as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred. SFAS 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred beginning in the first quarter 
of fiscal 2006.  We will adopt the provisions of SFAS 151 for our quarter beginning July 1, 2005, and the impact 
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of such adoption is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position or on our results of 
operations. 

 
 

Factors That May Affect Our Operating Results and Other Risk Factors   

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Any of the following risks could 
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity, and results of operations or prospects, 
financial or otherwise. Reference to these factors in the context of a forward-looking statement or 
statements will be deemed to be a statement that any one or more of the following factors may cause 
actual results to differ materially from those in such forward-looking statement or statements.  See Item 7 
- “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Forward-
Looking Statements” of this Report. 

Changes in the power generation industry and/or the economy could have an adverse impact 
on sales of our Environmental Systems and our operating results. 

The demand for our Environmental Systems depends to an extent on the continued construction of 
power generation plants and the upgrade of existing power and process plants.  In fiscal 2005, 
approximately 40 % of our consolidated revenues were derived from sales of Environmental Systems for 
new and refurbished plants compared to approximately 47 % and 58% in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, 
respectively.  The power generation industry has experienced cyclical periods of slow growth or decline.  
Any change in the power plant industry that results in a decline in the construction of new power plants or 
a decline in the refurbishing of existing power plants could have a materially adverse impact on our 
Environmental Systems revenues and our results of operations.  See Item 7 - “Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Report.  

Changes in the price, supply or demand for natural gas could have an adverse impact on our 
sales of Separation Filtration Systems and our operating results. 

A large portion of our separation filtration business is driven by the construction of natural gas 
production and transportation infrastructure.  Increasing demand for natural gas may result in the 
construction of natural gas production facilities and facilities to transport the gas to its end destination 
(i.e., pipelines and LNG processing plants).  Increasing prices of natural gas, while beneficial to 
exploration activities and the financing of new projects, can adversely impact demand.  Excessive supply 
could also negatively impact the price of natural gas, which could discourage spending on new projects. 

Changes in current environmental legislation could have an adverse impact on the sale of our 
Environmental Systems and on our operating results. 

Our Environmental Systems business is primarily driven by regulatory compliance.  Laws and 
regulations governing the discharge of pollutants into the environment or otherwise relating to the 
protection of the environment or human health have played a significant part in the increased use of 
Environmental Systems in the United States.  These laws include U.S. federal statutes such as the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA), the Clean Water Act, the Clean Air Act, and the 
Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR), and the regulations implementing them, as well as similar laws and 
regulations at state and local levels and in other countries.  These laws and regulations may change or 
other jurisdictions may not adopt similar laws and regulations.  This business segment will be adversely 
impacted to the extent that current regulations requiring the reduction of NOx emissions are repealed, 
amended or implementation dates delayed or to the extent that regulatory authorities minimize 
enforcement.  See Item 7 - “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations” of this Report. 
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Competition could result in lower sales and decreased margins. 

We operate in highly competitive markets worldwide.  Competition could result in not only a 
reduction in our sales, but also a reduction in the prices we charge for our products. To remain 
competitive we must be able to not only anticipate or respond quickly to our customers’ needs and 
enhance and upgrade our existing products and services to meet those needs, but also to continue to price 
our products competitively.  Our competitors may develop cheaper, more efficient products or may be 
willing to charge lower prices for strategic marketing or to increase market share.  Some of our 
competitors have more capital and resources than we do and may be better able to take advantage of 
acquisition opportunities or adapt more quickly to changes in customer requirements.   

We enter into fixed-priced contracts.  If our actual costs exceed our original estimates, our 
profits will be reduced. 

The majority of our contracts are on a fixed-priced basis.  Although we benefit from cost savings, 
we have limited ability to recover cost overruns.  Because of the large scale and long duration of our 
contracts, unanticipated cost increases may occur as a result of several factors, including, but not limited 
to: (1) increases in cost or shortages of components, materials or labor; (2) unanticipated technical 
problems; (3) required project modifications not initiated by the customer; and (4) suppliers’ or 
subcontractors’ failure to perform.  These factors could delay delivery of our products and our contracts 
often provide for liquidated damages for late delivery.  Unanticipated costs that we cannot pass on to our 
customers, for example the volatile nature of steel prices or the payment of liquidated damages under 
fixed contracts, would negatively impact our profits.  See Item 7 - “Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Report. 

Our backlog may not be indicative of our future revenue. 

Customers may cancel or delay projects for reasons beyond our control.  Our orders normally 
contain cancellation provisions which permit us to recover only our costs and a portion of our anticipated 
profit in the event a customer cancels an order.  If a customer elects to cancel an order, we may not realize 
the full amount of revenues included in our backlog.  If projects are delayed, the timing of our revenues 
could be affected and projects may remain in our backlog for extended periods of time.  Revenue 
recognition occurs over long periods of time and is subject to unanticipated delays.  If we receive 
relatively large orders in any given quarter, fluctuations in the levels of our quarterly backlog can result 
because the backlog in that quarter may reach levels that may not be sustained in subsequent quarters.  
Therefore, our backlog may not be indicative of our future revenues.   

Our ability to conduct business outside the United States may be adversely affected by factors 
outside of our control and our revenues and profits from international sales could be adversely 
impacted. 

During fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004, and fiscal 2003 revenue outside the United States represented 
approximately 40.7%, 32.6%, and 31.9% of our consolidated revenues, respectively  Our operations and 
earnings throughout the world have been, and may in the future be, affected from time to time in varying 
degrees by war, political developments and foreign laws and regulations, such as regional economic 
uncertainty, political instability, restrictions, customs and tariffs, government sanctions, changing 
regulatory environments, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and adverse tax consequences.  
The likelihood of such occurrences and their overall effect upon us vary greatly from country to country 
and are not predictable.  These factors may result in a decline in revenues or profitability and could 
adversely affect our ability to expand our business outside of the United States and from time-to-time may 
impact our ability to ship our products and collect our receivables. 
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Our financial performance may vary significantly from period to period, making it difficult to 
estimate future revenue. 

Our annual revenues and earnings have varied in the past and are likely to vary in the future.  Our 
Environmental Systems and Marine/Nuclear contracts generally stipulate customer specific delivery terms 
and may have contract cycles of a year or more, which subjects them to many factors beyond our control.  
In addition, these contracts are significantly larger in size than our typical Separation Filtration Systems 
contracts, which tend to intensify their impact on our annual operating results.  Furthermore, as a 
significant portion of our operating costs are fixed, an unanticipated decrease in our revenues, a delay or 
cancellation of orders in backlog, or a decrease in the demand for our products, may have a significant 
impact on our annual operating results.  Therefore, our annual operating results may be subject to 
significant variations and our operating performance in one period may not be indicative of our future 
performance.  See Item 7 - “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations” of this Report. 

Our margins are affected by shifts in our product mix. 

Certain of our products have higher margins than others.  Consequently, changes in the 
composition of our sales between products from quarter-to-quarter or from period-to-period can have a 
significant impact on our reported margins.  Certain of our products also have a much higher internally 
manufactured cost component; and therefore, changes from quarter-to-quarter or from period-to-period 
can have a significant impact on our reported margins through a negative or positive impact on our 
manufacturing absorption.  See Item 7 - “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations” of this Report. 

Our products are covered by warranties.  Unanticipated warranty costs for defective products 
could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations and reputation. 

We provide warranties on our products generally for terms of three years or less.  These 
warranties require us to repair or replace faulty products and contracted performance requirements, 
among other customary warranty provisions.  While we continually monitor our warranty claims and 
provide a reserve for estimated warranty issues on an on-going basis, an unanticipated claim could have a 
material adverse impact on our operations.  In some cases, we may be able to subrogate a claim to a 
subcontractor, if the subcontractor supplied the defective product or performed the service, but this may 
not always be possible.  The need to repair or replace products with design or manufacturing defects 
could temporarily delay the sale of new products, reduce our profits and could adversely affect our 
reputation.  See Item 7 – “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operation” of this Report. 

Product liability claims not covered by insurance could adversely affect our financial condition 
and results of operations. 

We may be subject to product liability claims involving claims of personal injury or property 
damage.  While we maintain product liability insurance coverage to protect us in the event of such a 
claim, our coverage may not be adequate to cover the cost of defense and the potential award in the event 
of a claim.  Also, a well-publicized actual or perceived problem could adversely affect our reputation and 
reduce the demand for our products. 
 
 



 
 27 

 
 
 

 

Large contracts represent a significant portion of our accounts receivable, which increases our 
exposure to credit risk. 

We closely monitor the credit worthiness of our customers.  Significant portions of our sales are 
to customers who place large orders for custom products and whose activities are related to the power and 
oil/gas industries.  As such, our exposure to credit risk is affected to some degree by conditions within 
these industries and governmental and/or political conditions.  We frequently mitigate our exposure to 
credit risk, to some extent, by requiring progress payments and letters of credit.  However, as some of our 
exposure is outside of our control, unanticipated events could have a materially adverse impact on our 
operating results.   

Changes in billing terms can increase our exposure to working capital and credit risk. 

Our products are generally sold under contracts that allow us to either bill upon the completion of 
certain agreed upon milestones, or upon the actual shipment of the product.  The Company attempts to 
negotiate progress-billing milestones on all large contracts to help the Company manage the working 
capital and credit risk associated with these large contracts.  Consequently, shifts in the billing terms of 
the contracts in the Company’s backlog from period to period can increase the Company’s requirement 
for working capital and can increase the Company’s exposure to credit risk.  See Item 7 – “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and Results of Operations – Liquidity and Capital Resources” of this Report. 

The terms and conditions of our credit facility impose restrictions on our operations.  We may 
not be able to raise additional capital, if needed. 

The terms and conditions of our current $12.5 million revolving credit facility impose restrictions 
that affect, among other things, our ability to incur debt, make capital expenditures, merge, sell assets, 
make distributions, or create or incur liens.  The availability of our credit facility is also subject to certain 
financial covenants, including a prohibition against consecutive quarterly losses.  Our ability to comply 
with the covenants may be affected by events beyond our control and we cannot assure that we will 
achieve operating results meeting the requirements of the credit agreement.  A breach of any of these 
covenants could result in a default under our credit facility.  In the event of a default, the bank could elect 
to declare the outstanding principal amount of our credit facility, all interest thereon, and all other 
amounts payable under our credit facility to be immediately due and payable.  As of June 30, 2005 we 
were in compliance with all financial and other covenants of our credit facility. 

Our ability to satisfy any debt obligations will depend upon our future operating performance, 
which will be affected by prevailing economic, financial and business conditions and other factors, some 
of which are beyond our control.  We anticipate that borrowings from our existing revolving credit 
facility, or the refinancing of our revolving credit facility, and cash provided by operating activities, 
should provide sufficient funds to finance capital expenditures, working capital and otherwise meet our 
operating expenses and service our debt requirements as they become due.  However, in the event that we 
require additional capital, there can be no assurance that we will be able to raise such capital when needed 
or on satisfactory terms, if at all.   

Our business is subject to risks of terrorist acts, acts of war and natural disasters. 

Terrorist acts, acts of war, or national disasters may disrupt our operations, as well as our 
customers’ operations.  Such acts have created, and continue to create, economic and political 
uncertainties and have contributed to global economic instability.  Future terrorist activities, military or 
security operations, or natural disasters could further weaken the domestic/global economies and create 
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additional uncertainties, thus forcing our customers to further reduce their capital spending, or cancel or 
delay already planned construction projects, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, 
operating results and financial condition. 

Our common stock is thinly traded, which may result in low liquidity. 

The daily trading volume of our common stock is relatively low and therefore the liquidity and 
appreciation in our stock may not meet our shareholders’ expectations.  The market price of our common 
stock could be adversely impacted as a result of sales by our existing shareholders of a large number of 
shares of our common stock in the market, or the perception that such sales could occur. 

The inability of our engineering and/or manufacturing operations to sufficiently scale up 
operations in the short term, in response to unexpected spikes in orders with short cycle times, directly 
impacts our ability to optimize absorption of our manufacturing overhead expense. 

Our engineering and manufacturing operations require a highly skilled workforce for which there 
is increasing demand and short supply in a very competitive environment.  Consequently, unexpected 
spikes of demand to produce sales orders that require tight delivery and short order cycle times, may 
require that we, in many cases, outsource the engineering and/or manufacturing of these orders.  While 
our ability to do this is one of our perceived strengths, such practice could negatively affect our margin, 
through higher unabsorbed manufacturing costs.  

 
Our customers may require us to execute portions of our projects in their local countries. 

 
Certain countries have regulations, or in some cases, customer preferences, requiring that a 

certain degree of local content be included in projects destined for installation in their country.  Such 
requirements may negatively impact our margins and present project management issues. 

 
 
 
ITEM 7A.   QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK. 
 

Our primary market risk exposures are in the areas of interest rate risk and foreign currency 
exchange rate risk.  We feel our risk to interest rate fluctuations is nominal, as our investments are short-
term in nature and we are currently not borrowing under our bank credit facility. Our exposure to 
currency exchange rate fluctuations has been, and is expected to continue to be, modest as foreign 
contracts payable in currencies other than United Stated dollars are performed, for the most part, in the 
local currency and therefore provide a “natural hedge” against currency fluctuations.  We, on occasion, 
will purchase derivative transactions with respect to foreign contracts that do not contain a “natural 
hedge,” but the impact of any fluctuation in the exchange rates in these hedged currencies, would be 
expected to have an immaterial impact on our financial operations.  The impact of currency exchange rate 
movements on inter-company transactions has been, and is expected to continue to be, immaterial.  We 
did not have any derivative transactions outstanding as of June 30, 2005. 
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ITEM 8.   CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA. 
 

 
 
 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 
 

Board of Directors  
Peerless Mfg. Co.  

 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Peerless Mfg. Co. and subsidiaries as 
of June 30, 2005 and 2004 and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity 
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2005.  These financial statements 
are the responsibility of the Company's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits.  

 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not 
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. 
Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of Peerless Mfg. Co. and subsidiaries as of June 30, 2005 
and 2004, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years 
in the period ended June 30, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  

 
 
 
/s/ Grant Thornton LLP 
Grant Thornton LLP 
Dallas, Texas 
September 16, 2005 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 
 

PEERLESS MFG. CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(Dollars in thousands) 
 
 
 
 
 
ASSETS 
 
 

2005 2004
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 8,277$             4,119$             
Accounts receivable-principally trade - net of

allowance for doubtful accounts of $352 at
June 30, 2005 and $431 at June 30, 2004 11,613             13,604             

Inventories - net 3,297               3,106               
Costs and earnings in excess of billings

on uncompleted contracts 10,140             12,448             
Deferred income taxes 1,163               1,013               
Other 1,206               816                  
Current assets of discontinued operations -                   225                  

Total current assets 35,696             35,331             
Property, plant and equipment - net 3,315               3,053               
Other assets 784                  922                  
Deferred income taxes -                   160                  
Other assets of discontinued operations 9                      9                      

Total assets 39,804$           39,475$           

June 30,

 
 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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PEERLESS MFG. CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(Dollars in thousands) 
 
 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 

2005 2004
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 8,572$             9,791$             
Billings in excess of costs and earnings

on uncompleted contracts 2,081               399                  
Commissions payable 762                  844                  
Income taxes payable -                   557                  
Product warranties 845                  982                  
Accrued liabilities and other 3,058               1,923               
Current liabilities of discontinued operations 106                  306                  

Total current liabilities 15,424             14,802             

Deferred income taxes, net 90                    -                   

Shareholders' equity:
Common stock - authorized, 10,000,000

shares of $1 par value; issued and 
outstanding, 3,036,434 and 3,013,684
shares at June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively 3,036               3,014               

Additional paid-in capital 2,114               1,884               
Other, principally other comprehensive income 171                  214                  
Retained earnings 18,969             19,561             

Total shareholders' equity 24,290             24,673             
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 39,804$           39,475$           

June 30,

 
 
  
 

 
 
 

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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PEERLESS MFG. CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 
 
 
 

Year ended June 30,
2005 2004 2003

Revenues 51,063$      59,761$       64,854$      
Cost of goods sold 37,356        40,959         47,842        
Gross profit 13,707        18,802         17,012        
Operating expenses
    Sales and marketing 6,031          6,158           5,926          
    Engineering and project
       management 3,608          4,140           5,187          
    General and administrative 4,770          4,631           4,833          
    Restructuring expense -                  -                   483             

14,409        14,929         16,429        
Operating income (loss) (702)            3,873           583             

Other income (expense)
    Foreign exchange gain (loss) (22)              (101)             146             
    Other income, net 85               77                581             

63               (24)               727             
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
    before income taxes (639)            3,849           1,310          
Income tax benefit (expense) 113             (1,447)          (399)            
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations (526)            2,402           911             

Discontinued operations (Note D)
    Loss from discontinued operations, 
       (including gain on disposal of $140 for the    
        year ended  June 30, 2004) (80)              (622)             (2,028)         
    Income tax benefit 14               258              738             
Net loss from discontinued operations (66)              (364)             (1,290)         
Net earnings (loss) (592)$          2,038$         (379)$          

BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
    Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (0.17)$         0.80$           0.30$          
    Loss from discontinued operations (0.02)           (0.12)            (0.43)           
       Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.20)$         0.68$           (0.13)$         

DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
    Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (0.17)$         0.79$           0.30$          
    Loss from discontinued operations (0.02)           (0.12)            (0.43)           
       Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.20)$         0.67$           (0.13)$         

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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PEERLESS MFG. CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

(Dollars in thousands) 

33 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Accumulated
Unamortized Value Other Total

Common Paid-in of Restricted Comprehensive Retained Shareholder
Stock Capital Stock Grants Income (loss) Earnings Equity

Balance at July 1, 2002 2,991$     1,720$    (16)$                (82)$                  17,902$    22,515$     

Net earnings from continuing operations -           -         -                 -                   911           911           
Net loss from discontinued operations -           -         -                 -                   (1,290)       (1,290)       
Foreign currency translation adjustment -           -         -                 103                  -            103           

Total comprehensive loss (276)          

Stock options exercised 11            53          -                 -                   -            64             
Stock grant forfeiture (3)             (16)         8                    -                   -            (11)            
Amortization of restricted stock grants -           -         5                    -                   -            5               
Income tax benefit related to restricted

stock plan -           14          -                 -                   -            14             

Balance at June 30, 2003 2,999       1,771     (3)                   21                    17,523      22,311      

Net earnings from continuing operations -           -         -                 -                   2,402        2,402        
Net loss from discontinued operations (364)          (364)          
Foreign currency translation adjustment -           -         -                 193                  -            193           

Total comprehensive income 2,231        

Stock options exercised 15            83          -                 -                   -            98             
Amortization of restricted stock grants -           -         3                    -                   -            3               
Income tax benefit related to restricted

stock plan -           30          -                 -                   -            30             

Balance at June 30, 2004 3,014       1,884     -                 214                  19,561      24,673      

Net loss from continuing operations -           -         -                 -                   (526)          (526)          
Net loss from discontinued operations (66)            (66)            
Foreign currency translation adjustment -           -         -                 (43)                   -            (43)            

Total comprehensive loss (635)          

Stock options exercised 22            118        -                 -                   -            140           
Income tax benefit related to stock option

exercises -           43          -                 -                   -            43             
Stock option expense -           69          -                 -                   -            69             

Balance at June 30, 2005 3,036$     2,114$    -$                    171$                 18,969$    24,290$     

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements  



PEERLESS MFG. CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Dollars in thousands) 

 

    
 

 
Year ended June 30,

2005 2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net earnings (loss) (592)$          2,038$         (379)$          
Net loss from discontinued operations 66              364              1,290         

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations (526)             2,402           911              
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) from continuing operations

to net cash provided by operating activities:
  Depreciation and amortization 636            754              759            
  Deferred income taxes 100            280              (503)           
  Provision for bad debt 318            39                124            
  Provision for warranty expense 541            880              1,157         
  Inventory valuation reserve 161            74                77              
  Foreign exchange (gain) loss 22              101              (146)           
  Gain on sales on property and equipment -                 -                   (473)           
  Stock option expense 69              -                   -                 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable 1,661         1,393           6,747         
Inventories (359)           36                (14)             
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts 2,288         (3,705)          798            
Other current assets (348)           284              (357)           
Other assets 138            59                (581)           
Accounts payable (1,236)        (3,971)          2,578         
Billings in excess of costs and earnings uncompleted contracts 1,682           (1,628)          (1,895)          
Commissions payable (82)             (197)             (395)           
Product warranties (678)           (744)             (938)           
Income taxes payable (557)           534              (713)           
Accrued liabilities and other 1,123         (887)             (1,389)        

5,479           (6,698)          4,836           
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities of continuing operations 4,953           (4,296)          5,747           
Cash flow from investing activities: 

Net proceeds from short-term investments -                 309              (2)               
Net purchases of property and equipment (897)             (407)             425              

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of continuing operations (897)             (98)               423              

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock 140            98                64              

Net cash provided by financing activities of continuing operations 140              98                64                

Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations (41)               1,755           (893)             

Effect of exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents 3                (20)               (47)             

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,158           (2,561)          5,294           
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4,119         6,680           1,386         

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 8,277$         4,119$         6,680$         

Supplemental information on cash flow:
Income taxes paid 716$            128$            834$            

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PEERLESS MFG. CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
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NOTE A.   NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
                    POLICIES 
 
Nature of Operations 
 
Peerless Mfg. Co. designs, engineers, and manufactures specialized products for the removal of 
contaminants from gases and liquids and for air pollution abatement. The Company's products are 
manufactured principally at plants located in Texas and are sold worldwide with the principal markets 
located in North America and Europe. Primary customers are equipment manufacturers, engineering 
contractors and operators of power plants.  
 
A summary of the significant accounting policies consistently applied in the preparation of the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements follows.  
 
Consolidation 
 
The Company consolidates the accounts of its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned.  All inter-
company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid investments 
purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
 
The Company’s accounts receivable are due from companies in various industries.  Credit is extended 
based on evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and, generally collateral is not required except 
on credit extension to international customers.  Accounts receivable are generally due within 30 days and 
are stated at amounts due from customers net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts.  Accounts 
outstanding longer than contractual payment terms are considered past due.  The Company records an 
allowance on a specific basis by considering a number of factors, including the length of time the trade 
accounts receivable are past due, the Company’s previous loss history, the customer’s current ability to 
pay its obligation to the Company, and the condition of the general economy and the industry as a whole.  
The Company writes-off accounts receivable when they become uncollectible, and payments 
subsequently received on such receivables are credited back to bad debt expense in the period the 
payment is received.  
 
Changes in the Company’s allowance for uncollectible accounts are as follows:  
 

Year ended June 30,
2005 2004 2003

Balance at beginning of year 431$         402$         354$         
Bad debt expense 318           39             124           
Accounts written off, net (397)         (10)           (76)           
Balance at end of year 352$        431$        402$          

 
 



PEERLESS MFG. CO. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
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NOTE A.   NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
                   POLICIES - CONTINUED 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market.  Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) 
method, including material, labor and factory overhead.  The Company regularly reviews inventory 
values on hand, using specific aging categories, and records a provision for obsolete and slow-moving 
inventory based on historical usage and estimated future usage.  In assessing the ultimate realization of its 
inventory, the Company is required to make judgments as to future demand requirements.  As actual 
future demand or market conditions may vary from those projected by the Company, adjustments to 
inventory valuations may be required. 
 
Depreciable Assets 
 
Depreciation is provided for in amounts sufficient to relate the cost of depreciable assets to operations 
over their estimated service lives (generally 3 to 7 years), principally by the straight-line method.  Routine 
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.  Major improvements that extend the life, increase the 
capacity or improve the safety or the efficiency of property owned are capitalized.  Major improvements 
to leased buildings are capitalized as leasehold improvements and amortized over the shorter of the 
estimated life or the lease term. 
 
Warranty Costs 
 
The Company provides product warranties for specific product lines and accrues for estimated future 
warranty costs in the period in which the revenue is recognized based on historical experience, 
expectation of future conditions, and the extent of backup concurrent supplier warranties in place. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
The Company provides products under long-term, generally fixed-priced, contracts that may extend up to 
18 months, or longer, in duration.  In connection with these contracts, the Company follows the guidance 
contained in AICPA Statement of Position (“SOP”) 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-
Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.”  SOP 81-1 requires the use of percentage-of-completion 
accounting for long-term contracts that contain enforceable rights regarding services to be provided and 
received by the contracting parties, consideration to be exchanged, and the manner and terms of 
settlement, assuming reasonably dependable estimates of revenues and expenses can be made.  The 
percentage-of-completion methodology generally results in the recognition of reasonably consistent profit 
margins over the life of a contract.  Amounts recognized in revenue are calculated using the percentage of 
construction cost completed, generally on a cumulative cost to total cost basis.   Cumulative revenues 
recognized may be less or greater than cumulative costs and profits billed at any point in time during a 
contract’s term.  The resulting difference is recognized as “costs and earnings in excess of billings on 
uncompleted contracts” or “billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts.” 
 
The completed contract method is applied to relatively short-term contracts where the financial statement 
presentation does not vary materially from the presentation under the percentage-of-completion method.  
Revenues under the completed contract method are recognized upon shipment of the product. 
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NOTE A.   NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
                    POLICIES - CONTINUED 
 
Shipping and Handling Policy 
 
Shipping and handling fees charged to customers are reported as revenue.  Shipping and handling costs 
that are incurred that related to products sold are reported as cost of goods sold. 
 
Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per common share are computed by dividing net earnings (loss) by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during each year presented. Diluted earnings (loss) per 
common share give effect to the assumed issuance of shares pursuant to outstanding stock option plans, 
when dilutive. 
 
Stock Based Compensation 
 
In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure” 
(SFAS 148) which amends Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS 123).  SFAS 148 provides alternative methods of transition for a 
voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation 
and requires disclosures in annual and interim financial statements of the effects of stock-based 
compensation as reflected below. 
 
At June 30, 2005, the Company has two stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described 
more fully in Note K.  The Company accounts for these plans under the recognition and measurement 
principles of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees” and related interpretations.  No stock-based employee compensation cost is reflected in net 
income, as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market price of the 
underlying common stock on the date of grant.  The following table illustrates the effect on net earnings 
(loss) and earnings (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to stock-based employee compensation.  
 

Year ended June 30,
2005 2004 2003

Net earnings (loss), as reported (592)$       2,038$      (379)$       
Deduct:  Total stock-based employee
  compensation expense determined
  using the fair value based method for
  all awards, net of related tax effects (161)         (161)         (117)         

Pro forma net earnings (loss) (753)$      1,877$     (496)$       

Earnings (loss)  per share:
     Basic - as reported (0.20)$     0.68$       (0.13)$       
     Basic - pro forma (0.25)$     0.63$       (0.17)$      

     Diluted - as reported (0.20)$     0.67$       (0.13)$      

     Diluted - pro forma (0.25)$     0.62$       (0.16)$      
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NOTE A.   NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
                    POLICIES – CONTINUED 
 
During fiscal 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the extension of the exercise period for 
certain options to a former Vice President, who retired from the Company on July 2, 2004.  In connection, 
therewith, the Company recorded compensation expense in fiscal 2005 of approximately $69. 
 
On June 15, 2005, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Peerless Mfg. Co. and the 
Board of Directors approved the acceleration of the vesting of certain unvested stock options held by 
employees, including senior and executive officers meeting both 1) an exercise price equal to or in excess 
of $16.94 per share, and 2) a remaining vesting period less than 12 months.  This resulted in 
approximately 6,550 options becoming immediately exercisable as of June 15, 2005.  The total impact of 
these options on the above pro-forma loss was an additional expense of approximately $19, or ($0.01) per 
share.  All other terms and conditions of such options remain unchanged. Of the options accelerated, 
4,000 were options to senior and executive officers. 
 
Foreign Currency 
 
All balance sheet accounts of foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the year-end rate of 
exchange and statements of operations items are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the 
year. The resulting translations adjustments are made directly to a separate component of stockholders' 
equity, gains and losses from foreign currency transactions, such as those resulting from the settlement of 
foreign receivables or payables, are included in the consolidated statements of operations. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts 
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of these items.  
 
Long-Lived Assets 
 
In accordance with statement on Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the 
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” the Company reviews it long-lived assets for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recoverable and exceeds its fair value.  If conditions indicate an asset might be impaired, the Company 
estimates the future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition.  
The impairment would be measured by the amount by which the asset exceeds its fair value typically 
represented by the discounted cash flows associated with the asset.  
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Reclassification 
 
Certain reclassifications of prior year amounts have been made to conform to the current year 
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presentation. 
 
NOTE B.  NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS    

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R) Share Based Payment. This statement establishes 
standards for the accounting of transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods 
and services, primarily with respect to accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee 
services in share-based payment transactions. It also addresses transactions in which an entity incurs 
liabilities in exchange for goods and services that are based on the fair value of the entity's equity 
instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those equity instruments. Entities will be required to 
measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on 
the grant-date fair value of the award (with limited exceptions). That cost will be recognized over the 
period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award (usually the 
vesting period). The grant-date fair value of employee share options and similar instruments will be 
estimated using option-pricing models. If an equity award is modified after the grant date, incremental 
compensation cost will be recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the fair value of the modified 
award over the fair value of the original award immediately before the modification. This statement is 
effective for the first fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company will adopt Statement No. 
123(R) beginning with its first quarter of fiscal 2006. The statement requires the Company to use either 
the modified-prospective method or modified retrospective method. Under the modified-prospective 
method, the Company must recognize compensation cost for all awards subsequent to adopting the 
standard and for the unvested portion of previously granted awards outstanding upon adoption. Under the 
modified retrospective method, the Company must restate its previously issued financial statements to 
recognize the amounts it previously calculated and reported on a pro-forma basis, as if the prior standard 
had been adopted. Under both methods, the statement permits the use of either the straight-line or an 
accelerated method to amortize the cost as an expense for awards with graded vesting. Currently, the 
Company follows APB No. 25 which does not require the recognition of compensation expense relating 
to the issuance of stock options so long as the quoted market price of the Company's stock at the date of 
grant is less than or equal to the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. The Company has 
evaluated the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) and has determined that the adoption of this standard is not 
expected to have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations. 
 
In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs (SFAS 151).  SFAS 151 requires 
that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and spoilage be recognized as 
current-period charges.  Further, SFAS 151 requires the allocation of fixed production overheads to 
inventory based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.  Unallocated overheads must be 
recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. SFAS 151 is effective for inventory 
costs incurred beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2006.  The Company will adopt the provisions of 
SFAS 151 for its quarter beginning July 1, 2005, and the impact of such adoption is not expected to have 
a material impact on its financial position or on its results of operations. 
 
NOTE C.   CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK 
 
The Company closely monitors the creditworthiness of its customers.  Significant portions of the 
Company’s sales are to customers who place large orders for custom systems and customers whose 
activities are related to the electrical generation and oil and gas industries, including some who are 
located in other countries.  The Company generally requires progress payments, but may extend credit to 
some of its customers.  The Company’s exposure to credit risk is also affected to some degree by 
conditions within the electrical generation and oil and gas industries.  When sales are made to smaller 
international enterprises, the Company generally requires progress payments or an appropriate guarantee 
of payment, such as a letter of credit from a financial institution. 
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NOTE C.   CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK - CONTINUED 
 
The Company is not dependent upon any single customer or group of customers in either of our two 
primary business segments.  The custom-designed and project-specific nature of its business can cause 
year-to-year variance in its major customers.  During fiscal 2005, one customer accounted for 
approximately 8% of its consolidated revenues, and in fiscal years 2004 and 2003, different customers 
accounted for approximately 10% and 16% of its total consolidated revenues, respectively.   
 
NOTE D.   DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  
 
During the first quarter of fiscal 2004, the Board of Directors authorized the divestiture, and the Company 
sold certain assets of its Boiler business segment with a net book value of approximately $110, for $250, 
resulting in a gain on disposal of $140.  
 
The following represents a summary of operating results and the gain on disposition of the Boiler 
segment presented as discontinued operations: 

2005 2004 2003

Revenues -$         360$        4,316$     
Cost of goods sold 75            833          4,711       

Gross margin (loss) (75)           (473)         (395)         
Operating expenses 5              289          1,680       

Operating loss (80)           (762)         (2,075)      
Other income -           -           47            
Income tax benefit 14            306          738          

Net loss from operations (66)           (456)         (1,290)      
Gain on disposal, net of taxes -           92            -           

Net loss (66)$        (364)$      (1,290)$   
Diluted loss per share

Net loss from operations (0.02)$     (0.15)$     (0.43)$     
Net gain on disposal -$         0.03$       -$         
Net loss (0.02)$      (0.12)$      (0.43)$      

Year ended June 30,

 
 
 

The current and non-current assets and liabilities of the discontinued boiler segment are as 
follows: 
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June 30,
2005 2004

Accounts receivable, principally trade - net of
allowance for  uncollectible accounts of $0
at June 30, 2005 and $10 at June 30, 2004 -$           225$          

Current assets of discontinued operations -             225            

Equipment, net 9                9                
Total assets of discontinued operations 9$             234$          

Commissions payable 6                
Product warranties and other reserves 106            300            
Total current liabilities of discontinued operations 106$          306$          

 
 
 
NOTE E.   INVENTORIES 
 

Principal components of inventories are as follows: 
 

2005 2004

Raw materials 3,027$       2,630$      
Work in progress 232            427           
Finished goods 356            245           

3,615         3,302        

Reserve for obsolete and slow-moving inventory (318)           (196)         

3,297$      3,106$      

June 30,

 
 

Changes in the Company’s reserve for obsolete and slow-moving inventory are as follows: 
 

 
Year ended June 30,

2005 2004 2003
Balance at beginning of year 196$         122$         45$           
Additions 161           74             77             
Amounts written off (39)           -            -            
Balance at end of year 318$        196$        122$         

 
 
 
NOTE F.   PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Property, plant and equipment is summarized as follows: 
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2005 2004

Buildings & improvements 3,965$         3,969$       
Equipment 4,577           4,137         
Furniture and fixtures 3,512           3,097         

12,054         11,203       
          Less accumulated depreciation (9,482)          (8,893)        

2,572           2,310         
Land 743              743            

3,315$        3,053$      

June 30,

 
 

         
 
Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 totaled $636, $754, and $759, 
respectively.  
 
 
 
 
NOTE G.   COSTS AND ESTIMATED EARNINGS ON UNCOMPLETED CONTRACTS 
 
 
 The components of uncompleted contracts are as follows: 
 

2005 2004
Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts and

estimated earnings 34,978$     44,348$     
Less billings to date (26,919)      (32,299)      

8,059$      12,049$     

June 30,

 
 

 
 
 
 

The components of uncompleted contracts are reflected in the balance sheets are as follows: 
 

2005 2004
Costs and earnings in excess billings on

uncompleted contracts 10,140$     12,448$     
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on

uncompleted contracts (2,081)        (399)           
8,059$      12,049$     

June 30,
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NOTE H.   LINE OF CREDIT 
 
The Company maintains a $12.5 million revolving line of credit facility for working capital requirements 
that expires in October 31, 2006.  The credit line carries a floating interest rate based on the prime or 
Euros rate plus or minus an applicable margin, and is secured by substantially all of the Company’s 
assets.  As of June 30, 2005, the applicable rate was Euro plus 1.75% (5.09%).  At June 30, 2005, the 
Company had no outstanding balances under the credit line, and $2.8 million outstanding under stand-by 
letters of credit, leaving $9.7 million of maximum availability under the facility (actual availability at 
June 30, 2005 approximately $5.2 million).  The facility contains financial covenants, restrictions on 
capital expenditures, acquisitions, asset dispositions, and additional debt, as well as other customary 
covenants.  As of June 30, 2005, the Company was in compliance with all financial and other covenants 
of the loan agreement.   
 
In addition, our UK subsidiary has a £2.4 million (approximately $4.3 million) debenture agreement used 
to facilitate the issuances of bank guarantees.  This facility is secured by substantially all of the UK 
subsidiary assets, and is backed by a Peerless stand-by letter of credit of £1.0 million (approximately $1.8 
million, which is included in the $2.8 million outstanding under the Company’s $12.5 million revolving 
credit facility described above) and expires on October 1, 2005.  At June 30, 2005, there was 
approximately £2.1 million (approximately $3.8 million) outstanding under this facility, leaving 
availability of approximately £300 (approximately $538).   
 
 
NOTE I.   PRODUCT WARRANTIES 
 
The Company warrants that its products will be free from defects in materials and workmanship and will 
conform to agreed upon specifications at the time of delivery and typically for a period of 12 to 18 
months from the date of customer acceptance, depending upon the specific product and terms of the 
customer agreement.  Typical warranties require the Company to repair or replace defective products 
during the warranty period at no cost to the customer.  The Company attempts to obtain back-up 
concurrent warranties for major component parts from its suppliers.  The Company provides for the 
estimated cost of product warranties, based on historical experience by product type, expectation of future 
conditions and the extent of back-up concurrent supplier warranties in place, at the time the product 
revenue is recognized.  Revision to the estimated product warranties is made when necessary, based on 
changes in these factors.  Product warranty activity is as follows:  

 

Year Ended June 30,
2005 2004 2003

Balance at beginning of period 982$         846$         627$         
Provision for warranty expenses 541           880           1,157        
Warranty charges (678)         (744)         (938)         
Balance at end of period 845$         982$         846$         

 
 
 
 
NOTE J.   COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Company leases office space, office equipment and other personal property under leases expiring at 
various dates.  Management expects that, in the normal course of business, leases that expire will be 
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renewed or replaced by other leases.  Total rent expense incurred under operating leases was $208 for 
fiscal 2005, $217 for fiscal 2004 and $162 for fiscal 2003. 
 
At June 30, 2005, future minimum rental commitments under all operating leases are as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year Amount
2006 141$         
2007 108           
2008 34             
2009 -            
2010 -            

Thereafter -            
283$          

  
 
       
 
 
 
NOTE J.   COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - CONTINUED 
 
On March 19, 2004, the Company received notice that an adversary proceeding was initiated by Enron 
Corp. and National Energy Production Corporation in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the 
Southern District of New York against PMC Acquisition, Inc., a subsidiary that operated our discontinued 
Boiler business under the name ABCO Industries.  The plaintiffs allege that certain accounts receivable 
payments paid to ABCO were avoidable transfers under the Bankruptcy Code and are seeking to recover 
approximately $1 million from ABCO.  The Company believes that all, or a majority of the payments 
may fail to meet the applicable standards for avoidance under the Bankruptcy Code and other applicable 
law and that a number of defenses may be able to be asserted that may negate any recovery by the 
plaintiffs.  The Company intends to vigorously defend against the lawsuit and management believes the 
likelihood of loss , at this time, is not probable. 
 
On April 25, 2005, the Company received notice that the Company may have received preferential 
transfers amounting to approximately $900,000 in connection with the Chapter 11 filing by Erie Power 
Technologies, Inc.  Based on its preliminary investigation, the Company believes that all, or a majority of 
the payments received may fail to meet the applicable standards for avoidance under the Bankruptcy 
Code and other applicable law, and that a number of defenses may be able to be asserted that may negate 
any recovery by the plaintiffs.  The Company intends to vigorously defend against the lawsuit and 
management believes the likelihood of loss, at this time, is not probable. 
 
From time to time the Company is involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of 
its business.  The Company does not believe the disposition of any current matter will have a material 
adverse effect on its consolidated financial position or its results of operations. 
 
NOTE K.   SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 
The Company had a 1985 restricted stock plan (the 1985 Plan), which expired in December 2000, under 
which 150,000 shares of common stock were reserved for awards to employees. Restricted stock grants 
made under the 1985 Plan generally vest ratably over a three to five-year period.  Compensation expense 
for stock grants is charged to earnings over the restriction period and amounted to $1, $3 and $5 in fiscal 
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2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.  The tax effect of differences between compensation expense for 
financial statement and income tax purposes is charged or credited to additional paid-in capital. 
 
In December 1995, the Company adopted a stock option and restricted stock plan (the 1995 Plan), which 
provides for a maximum of 240,000 shares of common stock to be issued. Stock options are granted at 
market value, generally vest ratably over four years, and expire ten years from date of grant.  At June 30, 
2005, 21,900 shares of common stock were available for issuance under the 1995 Plan. 
 
In January 2002, the Company adopted a stock option and restricted stock plan (the 2001 Plan), which 
provides for a maximum of 250,000 shares of common stock to be issued.  Stock options are granted at 
market value, generally vest ratably over four years, and expire ten years from date of grant.  At June 30, 
2005, 99,200 shares of common stock were available for issuance under the 2001 Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTE K.   SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY - CONTINUED 
 
Additional information with respect to options outstanding under the plans is as follows: 

Number of Weighted
shares average

underlying exercise
Options Price

Outstanding at July 1, 2002 211,950        9.89$        

Granted 4,000            9.85          
Exercised (10,400)        6.17          
Canceled (18,800)        14.91        
Outstanding at June 30, 2003 186,750        9.59          

Granted 67,300          12.32        
Exercised (15,150)        6.38          
Canceled (16,300)        15.52        
Outstanding at June 30, 2004 222,600        10.20        

Granted 41,600          14.55        
Exercised (22,750)        6.19          
Canceled (3,500)          18.52        
Outstanding at June 30, 2005 237,950      11.22       

Options exercisable at June 30, 2003 142,850      8.13$        

Options exercisable at June 30, 2004 153,500      8.95$        

Options exercisable at June 30, 2005 167,850      10.36$      
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Weighted average fair value per share of options granted: 
 
 
     Year ended June 30, 2003  $5.46 
     Year ended June 30, 2004  $6.44 
     Year ended June 30, 2005  $5.76 
 
 
 
The fair value of these options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model with the following weighted-average assumptions: expected volatility of 36% to 47% for fiscal 
2005, 54% for fiscal 2004, and 69% for fiscal 2003; risk-free interest rates of 4.0% for fiscal 2005, 2004 
and 2003, respectively; dividend yield of 0% in fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively; and 
expected lives of five to seven years. 
 
 
 
 
NOTE K.   SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY - CONTINUED 
 
The following table summarizes information about stock options at June 30, 2005: 

Outstanding
Weighted

Range of Number Weighted average remaining average
Exercise Prices outstanding contractual life (in years) exercise price
$4.625 - $4.6250 26,000           0.6 4.63
$5.313 - $5.9380 13,000           2.7 5.38             
$6.000 - $6.6880 51,150           4.7 6.15             
$9.850 - $10.750 15,000           7.9 10.57           
$12.64 - $12.900 52,000           8.4 12.66           
$14.52 - $14.830 41,600           9.6 14.55           
$16.94 - $19.500 39,200           6.4 18.94           

237,950         

Exercisable
Weighted

Range of Number Weighted average remaining average
Exercise Prices outstanding contractual life (in years) exercise price
$4.625 - $4.6250 26,000           0.6 4.63             
$5.313 - $5.9380 13,000           2.7 5.38             
$6.000 - $6.6880 51,150           4.7 6.15             
$9.850 - $10.750 6,000             7.7 10.30           
$12.64 - $12.900 23,500           8.4 12.68           
$14.52 - $14.830 9,000             9.5 14.66           
$16.94 - $19.500 39,200           6.4 18.94           

167,850         
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On May 21, 1997 the Company adopted a Rights Agreement (the "Agreement") pursuant to which each 
outstanding share of the Company's common stock received, as a dividend, one purchase right (a 
"Right").  The Rights become exercisable only in the event that a person or group of affiliated persons (an 
“Acquiring Party’) acquires, or obtains the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of 20% or more of the 
Company's common stock, or commences a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in an 
acquiring Party owning 20% or more of the Company's common stock, and such transaction has not been 
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors (a “Triggering Event”).  The Agreement was amended on 
August 23, 2001 to, among other things, set the purchase price of a Right at $200.00, which subsequently 
was adjusted to $100.00 to give effect to a two-for-one stock split on October 18, 2001 (the “Purchase 
Price”). 
 
In general, when a Triggering Event has occurred, the holders of the Rights can purchase from the 
Company, for the Purchase Price, a certain number of shares of Common Stock having a market value of 
two times the Purchase Price, in other words, at a 50% discount, or in the event the Company’s common 
stock would be cancelled, the holders may purchase stock of the acquiring entity at a 50% discount.  
Alternatively, the Board may distribute the net economic impact of the Rights.  In addition, after a 
Triggering Event, and at the Board’s discretion, the Rights may be redeemed for $.01 per Right.  The 
Rights expire in May 2007. 

 
NOTE L.   EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS  
 
The Company has a 401(k) Plan to provide eligible employees with a retirement savings plan. All 
employees are eligible to participate in the plan upon completing 90 days of service. Company 
contributions are voluntary and at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company. The 
Company’s contribution expense for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was approximately 
$202, $229, and $249, respectively.  
 
NOTE M.   INCOME TAXES  
 
Deferred taxes are provided for the temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and the 
tax bases of the Company’s assets and liabilities. The temporary differences that give rise to the deferred 
tax assets or liabilities are as follows: 

2005 2004
Deferred tax assets

Inventories 150$          136$          
Net operating loss carryforwards 202            212            
Accrued expenses 825            712            
Accounts receivable 130            162            
Other 58              3                

1,365         1,225         
Less valuation allowance (149)           -             

1,216         1,225         

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment (139)           (48)             
Other (4)               (4)               

(143)           (52)             
Net deferred tax asset 1,073$      1,173$       

June 30,

 
 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities included in the balance sheet are as follows: 
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2005 2004

Current deferred tax asset 1,163$       1,013$       
Non-current deferred tax asset, net 160            
Non-current deferred tax liability, net (90)             

1,073$      1,173$       

June 30,

 
 

 
At the end of fiscal 2004, the Company had a state net operating loss carry-forward of approximately $8.2 
million, representing a deferred tax asset of approximately $212.  During fiscal year 2005, the Company 
utilized approximately $298 of the state net operating loss carry-forward.  However, the Company has 
determined that it is more likely than not, that insufficient taxable income will be generated by the 
subsidiary in the ensuing years to enable the Company to fully utilized the remaining net operating loss 
carry-forward prior to its expiration.  Therefore, the Company during fiscal year 2005 recorded a 
valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax asset to its anticipated realizable value, through a charge to 
deferred tax expense for the period of approximately $149.  
 
 
NOTE M.   INCOME TAXES - CONTINUED  
 
The benefit (expense) for income taxes consists of the following: 

2005 2004 2003
Federal tax benefit (expense)

Current 332$        (698)$       117$        
Deferred (104)         (266)         503          

State tax expense (33)           (96)           (51)           
Foreign tax benefit (expense)

Current (72)           (115)         (230)         
Deferred 4              (14)           -           

127$       (1,189)$   339$       

Income tax benefit (expense) - continuing operations 113$        (1,447)$    (399)$       
Income tax benefit - discontinued operations 14            258          738          

Income tax benefit (expense) 127$       (1,189)$   339$       

Year ended June 30,

 
 
 
 
 
The income tax benefit (expense) varies from the federal statutory rate due to the following: 
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2005 2004 2003
Income tax benefit (expense) at federal statutory rate 244$        (1,097)$    244$        
Decrease (increase) in income tax expense

resulting from
State tax, net of federal benefit (38)           (96)           21            
Foreign sales income exclusions 67            26            22            
Effect of lower tax rate on foreign income 15            36            43            
Net operating loss valuation allowance (149)         -           -           
Other (12)           (58)           9              

Income tax benefit (expense) 127$       (1,189)$   339$       

Year ended June 30,

 
 
 
 
 
On October 22, 2004, the President signed the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”).  The Act 
creates a temporary incentive for U.S. Corporations to repatriate foreign subsidiary earnings by providing 
an elective 85% dividends received deduction for certain dividends from controlled foreign corporations.  
The Company has evaluated the repatriation provisions of the Act and has determined that financial 
impact associated with such is immaterial. 
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NOTE N.   EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share have been computed by dividing net earnings (loss) by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share 
reflect the potential dilution that could occur if options or other contracts to issue common shares were 
exercised or converted into common stock.  The following table sets forth the computation for basic and 
diluted earnings (loss) per share for the periods indicated. Certain earnings per share amounts may not 
total due to rounding. 
 
 

Year ended June 30,
2005 2004 2003

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations (526)$       2,402$     911$        
Loss from discontinued operations (66)           (364)         (1,290)      

Net earnings (loss) (592)$      2,038$     (379)$      

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 3,028 3,003 2,996       
Effect of dilutive options -               41            17            

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 3,028     3,044      3,013      

Net earnings (loss) per share - basic:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (0.17)$      0.80$       0.30$       
Loss from discontinued operations (0.02) (0.12) (0.43)

Net earnings (loss) per share (0.20)$     0.68$       (0.13)$     

Net earnings (loss) per share - diluted:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (0.17)$      0.79$       0.30$       
Loss from discontinued operations (0.02) (0.12) (0.43)

Net earnings (loss) per share (0.20)$     0.67$       (0.13)$     
 

 
 
For fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, stock options covering approximately 238, 90 and 27 shares, respectively 
were excluded in the computations of diluted earnings per share because their effect was antidilutive. 
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NOTE O.   INDUSTRY SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION  
 
The Company identifies reportable segments based on management responsibility within the corporate 
structure.  The Company has two reportable industry segments: Environmental Systems and Separation 
Filtration Systems.  The main product of its Environmental Systems segment is its Selective Catalytic 
Reduction Systems, referred to as “SCR Systems”.  These environmental control systems are used for air 
pollution abatement and convert nitrogen oxide (NOx) emissions from exhaust gases caused by burning 
hydrocarbon fuels such as coal, gasoline, natural gas and oil.  Along with the SCR Systems, this segment 
also offers systems to reduce other pollutants such as carbon monoxide (CO) and particulate matter.  The 
Company combines these systems with other components, such as instruments, controls and related 
valves and piping to offer its customers a totally integrated system.  The Separation Filtration Systems 
segment produces various types of separators and filters used for removing liquids and solids from gases 
and air.   
 
Segment profit and loss is based on revenue less direct expenses of the segment before allocation of 
general, administrative, research and development costs. All inter-company transfers between segments 
have been eliminated.  Starting in fiscal year 2003, the Company began allocating all costs associated 
with the manufacture, sale and design of its products to each segment.  Segment information and 
reconciliation to operating profit for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004, and 2003 are presented below. 
Note that the Company does not allocate general and administrative expenses (“unallocated overhead”), 
assets, expenditures for assets or depreciation expense on a segment basis for internal management 
reporting, and therefore such information is not presented. 
 

Separation
Environmental Filtration Unallocated

Systems Systems Overhead Consolidated
2005
Net revenues from customers 20,591$  30,472$  -$        51,063$   

Segment profit (loss) 2,309      1,759     (4,770)    (702)         

2004
Net revenues from customers 28,096$  31,665$  -$        59,761$   

Segment profit (loss) 4,133      4,371     (4,631)    3,873       

2003
Net revenues from customers 37,511$  27,343$  -$        64,854$   

Segment profit (loss) 3,191      2,708     (5,316)    583          
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NOTE O.   INDUSTRY SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION – CONTINUED 
 
The Company attributes revenues from external customers to individual geographic areas based on the 
country where the sale originated. Information about the Company’s operations  in different geographic 
areas as of and for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 is as follows: 
 

United United
States Kingdom Eliminations Consolidated

2005
Net sales to unaffiliated

customers 40,261$       10,802$       -$                  51,063$       
Transfers between

geographic areas 2,230           -              (2,230)         -               
Total 42,491$       10,802$       (2,230)$        51,063$       
Identifiable long-lived assets 3,247$          68$               -$                  3,315$          

2004
Net sales to unaffiliated

customers 48,589$       11,172$       -$                  59,761$       
Transfers between

geographic areas 2,369           -              (2,369)         -               
Total 50,958$       11,172$       (2,369)$        59,761$       
Identifiable long-lived assets 2,964$          89$               -$                  3,053$          

2003
Net sales to unaffiliated

customers 55,823$       9,031$         -$                  64,854$       
Transfers between

geographic areas 809              -              (809)             -               
Total 56,632$       9,031$         (809)$            64,854$       
Identifiable long-lived assets 3,329$          71$               -$                  3,400$          

 
 
 
 
Transfers between the geographic areas primarily represent inter-company export sales and are accounted 
for based on established sales prices between the related companies. 
 
Identifiable long-lived assets of geographic areas are those assets related to the Company’s operations in 
each area. 
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NOTE P.   QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION – UNAUDITED 
 
The following tables represent the unaudited quarterly financial data of the Company for fiscal years 2005 
and 2004. 
 

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Total

Revenues 11,218$              10,844$              12,999$              16,002$              51,063$              
Gross profit 3,215                  2,939                  3,844                  3,709                  13,707                
Operating expenses 3,481                  3,645                  3,650                  3,633                  14,409                
Operating income (loss) (266)                   (706)                   194                     76                       (702)                   
Net earnings (loss) from 
continuing operations (109)                   (464)                   205                     (158)                   (526)                   
Net earnings (loss) from 
discontinued operations (20)                     (33)                     -                      (13)                     (66)                     
Net earnings (129)                   (497)                   205                     (171)                   (592)                   

Basic earnings (loss) per share *
Earnings (loss) from 
continuing operations ($0.04) ($0.15) $0.07 ($0.05) ($0.17)
Net earnings (loss) from 
discontinued operations ($0.01) ($0.01) $0.00 $0.00 ($0.02)
Net earnings (loss) ($0.04) ($0.16) $0.07 ($0.06) ($0.20)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share *
Earnings (loss) from 
continuing operations ($0.04) ($0.15) $0.07 ($0.05) ($0.17)
Net earnings (loss) from 
discontinued operations ($0.01) ($0.01) $0.00 $0.00 ($0.02)
Net earnings (loss) ($0.04) ($0.16) $0.07 ($0.06) ($0.20)

* Certain earnings per share amounts may not total due to rounding.

Year ended June 30, 2005

 
 
For the fourth quarter, the Company’s results were impacted by unanticipated start-up costs associated 
with two Environmental Systems projects and a valuation reserve allowance to reduce a deferred tax asset 
relating to a subsidiary’s net operating loss carry-forward to its anticipated realizable value. 
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NOTE P.   QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION – UNAUDITED      

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Total

Revenues 16,807$              16,429$              13,491$              13,034$              59,761$              
Gross profit 4,806                  4,545                  4,812                  4,639                  18,802                
Operating expenses 3,655                  3,724                  3,916                  3,634                  14,929                
Operating income 1,151                  821                     896                     1,005                  3,873                  
Net earnings from 
continuing operations 740                     609                     555                     498                     2,402                  
Net earnings (loss) from 
discontinued operations 65                       (142)                   (117)                   (170)                   (364)                   
Net earnings 805                     467                     438                     328                     2,038                  

Basic earnings (loss) per share *
Earnings from continuing 
operations $0.25 $0.20 $0.18 $0.17 $0.80
Net earnings (loss) from 
discontinued operations $0.02 ($0.05) ($0.04) ($0.06) ($0.12)
Net earnings $0.27 $0.16 $0.15 $0.11 $0.68

Diluted earnings (loss) per share *
Earnings from continuing 
operations $0.24 $0.20 $0.18 $0.16 $0.79
Net earnings (loss) from 
discontinued operations $0.02 ($0.05) ($0.04) ($0.06) ($0.12)
Net earnings $0.26 $0.15 $0.14 $0.11 $0.67

* Certain earnings per share amounts may not total due to rounding.

Year ended June 30, 2004

                                                 
NOTE Q. OTHER INFORMATION 
 

The components of accrued liabilities and other are as follows: June 30,
2005 2004

Accrued start-up expense 974$           312$              
Accrued compensation 691             677                
Sales and use tax payable 491             41                  
Accrued property tax expense 111             107                
Accrued bonus expense -                  114                
Other 791             672                

3,058$        1,923$          

The Company's earnings (loss) before income taxes is as follows:
Year ended June 30, 

2005 2004 2003
Continuing operations

United States (886)$             3,366$        595$              
United Kingdom 247                483             715                

(639)               3,849          1,310             
Discontinued operations - U. S. (80)                 (622)            (2,028)            

(719)$            3,227$        (718)$            
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ITEM 9.   CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING 

AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE. 
 

   No matter requires disclosure. 
 
ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.   
 

 The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that 
information related to the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) that is required to be 
disclosed in the reports it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange 
Commission’s rules and forms. 

The Company’s management has evaluated, with the participation of the Company’s Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of these disclosure controls and 
procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Report.  Based on that evaluation, the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of June 30, 2005, the Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that all material information required to be 
filed in this Report has been made known to them in a timely fashion.  Due to the inherent limitations of 
control systems, not all misstatements may be detected. These inherent limitations include the realities 
that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error 
or mistake. Additionally, controls could be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons or by 
collusion of two or more people. The Company’s controls and procedures can only provide reasonable, 
not absolute, assurance that the above objectives have been met. 

During the quarter ended June 30, 2005, there have been no changes in the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting, or in other factors, except as noted below, that have materially affected or 
are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal controls over financial reporting.  

During the quarter ended December 31, 2004, the Company’s principal executive officer and 
principal financial officer identified deficiencies in the Company’s internal controls over financial 
reporting as they relate to the Company’s administration of contracts.  More specifically, these 
deficiencies concerned 1) completeness of the Company’s contract file documentation, and 2) the 
Company’s process to timely update its accounting records to reflect contract modifications and changes 
in estimates to complete.  Management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial 
officer, conducted additional substantive testing to evaluate these deficiencies, notified the Company’s 
Audit Committee and outside public accounting firm of its initial findings, and supervised and 
participated in the evaluation of these deficiencies.  Management concluded, after a thorough review, that 
while a material weakness, as defined by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”), 
existed with respect to its administration of contracts, such weakness did not result in a material 
misstatement of the Company’s previously reported financial results, nor was it expected to have a 
material impact on the Company’s projected results for fiscal year 2005.   The correction of the control 
deficiencies did however have a significant impact on the reported segment results (but not the 
Company’s consolidated results) for the quarter ended December 31, 2004 and the year ended June 30, 
2005.  The Company’s Audit Committee engaged the Company’s outside accounting firm to review the 
results of the procedures executed by management and to perform additional procedures as deemed 
appropriate to validate management’s conclusions.  The Company’s outside accounting firm completed 
its review and procedures and issued a material weakness letter to the Company’s Audit Committee with 
respect to the Company’s administration of contracts.   

 
 



 

In connection with the material weakness identified, management presented the Audit Committee 
with a plan of remediation to correct the control issues noted.  With respect thereto, the following steps 
have been taken:  

 
1. We have developed and implemented new written sales order entry procedures 

designed to ensure that the essential elements of all contracts are in place prior to 
entering sales orders into the Company’s Enterprise Resource Planning system 
(“ERP”).  

 
2. We have developed and implemented written contract filing and maintenance 

procedures designed to ensure that all contracts meet Company, customer and third 
party requirements.  

 
3. We have developed and implemented new written change order procedures designed 

to ensure: a) proper management approval prior to implementation, b) timely entry of 
contract changes, and c) the Company’s ERP system reflects the most current 
contract sales order value and data. 

 
4. We have improved the status review process for on-going projects to assure that 

potential project cost overruns are timely identified and the Company’s ERP system 
is timely updated. 

 
5. We have realigned the departments and reporting responsibilities associated with the 

Contracts Administration and Project Management departments.   
 

Our management and Audit Committee is dedicating significant resources to assessing the issues 
underlying the weakness identified with the Company’s administration of contracts and to ensure that 
proper steps have been and are being taken to improve our control environment.  We have prioritized the 
correction of these deficiencies and have taken and will continue to take action to correct them.  
Management is committed to instilling strong control policies and procedures and will ensure that the 
‘tone at the top’ is committed to accuracy and completeness in all financial reporting.    

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 404”) requires the Company to include a 
report regarding the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting, beginning with its 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ending June 30, 2008.  That report is to include an assessment 
by the Company’s management of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of 
the end of the fiscal year along with an attestation report from the Company’s independent auditors 
regarding that assessment. Accordingly, the Company will undertake a comprehensive effort to assess its 
system of internal controls over financial reporting. Using internal resources and external consulting 
assistance, the Company will review its internal controls over financial reporting to assess their adequacy 
and, as necessary, to address identified issues or inadequacies.  

  

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 
 No matter requires disclosure. 
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PART III 
 
ITEM 10.    DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT. 
 
 The information concerning “Executive Officers of the Registrant” is incorporated by reference 
to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
 Information regarding the Company’s Code of Ethics and its Audit Committee are included 
below.  The remaining information required by Item 10, is incorporated by reference to the definitive 
Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
Code of Ethics 
 
 The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct for Directors and Employees (the “Code”).  The 
Code is posted on the Company’s Internet website at http//:www.peerlessmfg.com (under “Investor 
Relations”) and applies to the Company’s principal executive officer and senior financial officer, 
including the principal financial officer, the principal accounting officer and others performing similar 
functions.  If we make any substantive amendments to the Code, or grant any waivers to the Code for any 
of our senior officers or directors, we will disclose such amendment or waiver on our website and in a 
report on Form 8-K. 
 
 The Company undertakes to provide any person without charge, a copy of the Code.  Request 
should be submitted in writing to the attention of Ms. Susan Banner at 2819 Walnut Hill Lane, Dallas, 
Texas 75229. 
 
Information About the Audit Committee 
 
 The Company’s Board of Directors has a standing audit committee established in accordance 
with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended.  The current members of the audit 
committee are: Bernard S. Lee, Joseph V. Mariner, Jr. and Donald A. Sillers, Jr.  The Board of directors 
of the Company has determined that all members of the audit committee are financial experts as defined 
by Item 401(h) of SEC Regulation S-K.  Each member of the audit committee has been determined by the 
Board of Directors to be independent as defined under the rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market. 
 
ITEM 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. 
 
 The information required by Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy 
Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 
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ITEM 12.    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND 
                    MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS. 
 
The information required by Item 12, as to certain beneficial owners and management, is incorporated by 
reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
The following table provides information about securities authorized for issuance under the Company’s 
equity compensation plans: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Plan Category 

  
 

Number of 
securities to be 

issued upon 
exercise of 

outstanding 
options  

(a) 

  
 
 

Weighted-
average 

exercise price 
of outstanding 

options  
(b) 

 Number of 
securities 

available for 
future issuances 

under equity 
compensation 

plans (excluding 
securities 

reflected in 
column (a)) 

(c) 
 
Equity compensation plans approved by           
security holders (1) 
 

  
 

237,950 

  
 

$11.22 

  
 

121,200 

Equity compensation plans not approved by security 
holders 
 

  
--- 

  
--- 

 

  
--- 

Total  237,950  $11.22  121,200 
       
 
(1) Includes the 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan and the 2001 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan. 
 
ITEM 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS. 
 
 The information required by Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy 
Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
 
ITEM 14.   PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES. 

 
All information required by Item 14, is hereby incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy 

Statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.  
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PART IV 
 
ITEM 15.   EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 
 
 (a)(1) The following audited consolidated financial statements of Peerless Mfg. Co. and Subsidiaries are 

included in Part II, Item 8, of this Report. 
 
 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 Consolidated Balance Sheets at June 30, 2005 and 2004 
 Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003  

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended June 30, 2005, 
2004 and 2003  

 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003  
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
 (a)(2)  The following financial statement schedule of Peerless Mfg. Co. and Subsidiaries is included. 
  

All schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulation of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission have been omitted because of the absence of the 
conditions under which they would be required or because the information required is included 
in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto. 

 
 (a)(3) Exhibits 
 

See the exhibit index, which is included in this Report beginning on page 60.  
 
 (b)     Reports on Form 8-K  

 
  On May 6, 2005, the Company filed a Report on Form 8-K to file a press release announcing an 

agreement for the acquisition of a patent, assets and technology associated with manufacturing 
of composite louvers by its wholly owned subsidiary, PMC Acquisition, Inc. 

 
On June 15, 2005, the Company filed a Report on Form 8-K to file a press release announcing 
the acceleration of the vesting of certain “underwater” unvested stock options held by certain 
employees. 
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SIGNATURES 
 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly 
authorized.  
 
        PEERLESS MFG. CO. 
 
        By: /s/ Sherrill Stone                    
        Sherrill Stone 
        Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer 
        Date:  September 28, 2005   
 
      
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below 
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on September 28, 
2005.  
 
/s/ Sherrill Stone        Chairman of the Board and  
Sherrill Stone      Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
/s/ Richard L. Travis, Jr.    Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial    
Richard L. Travis, Jr.    and Accounting Officer) 
 
 
/s/ Bernard S. Lee     Director 
Bernard S. Lee 
 
 
/s/ J. V. Mariner,  Jr.          Director 
J. V. Mariner, Jr.  
 
 
/s/ R. Clayton Mulford    Director 
R. Clayton Mulford 
 
 
/s/ Donald A. Sillers, Jr.    Director 
Donald A. Sillers, Jr
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS 
 

No.  Exhibit Description 
3(a)      Articles of Incorporation, as amended to date (filed as Exhibit 3(a) to our 

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 
1997, and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

3(b)       Bylaws, as amended to date (filed as Exhibit 3(b) to our Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein 
by reference). 
 

4(a)  Rights Agreement between Peerless Mfg. Co. and Mellon Investor Services, 
LLC (formerly ChaseMellon Shareholder Services, L.L.C.), as Rights Agent 
(filed as Exhibit 1 to our Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 0-
05214), dated May 22, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

4(b)  Amendment to Rights Agreement between Peerless Mfg. Co. and Mellon 
Investor Services, LLC, as Rights Agent (filed as Exhibit 2 to our Registration 
Statement on Form 8-A, dated August 30, 2001, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

   
10(a)  Incentive Compensation Plan effective January 1, 1981, as amended January 23, 

1991 (filed as Exhibit 10(b) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 1991, and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

10(b)  Peerless Mfg. Co. 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit 
10(h) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
1997, and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

10(c)  Amendment to Peerless Mfg. Co. 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan 
dated November 11, 1999 (filed as Exhibit 10(h) to our Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 1999, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 
 

10(d)  Peerless Mfg. Co. 2001 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (filed as 
Appendix B to our Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A dated October 24, 2001, 
and incorporated herein by reference). 
  

10(e)  Asset Purchase Agreement dated February 25, 2000, by and between PMC 
Acquisition, Inc. and ABCO Industries, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K dated February 25, 2000, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
 

10(f)  Credit Agreement, Guaranty Agreement, Master Revolving Note, and Security 
Agreement each dated as of October 30, 2003, by and between Peerless Mfg. 
Co. and Comerica Bank (filed as Exhibits 10(a) through 10(d) to our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2003, and 
incorporated herein by reference). 
 

10(g)  Employment Agreement dated July 20, 2001, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. 
and Sherrill Stone (filed as Exhibit 10(i) to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, 
for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2001, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 



 

 
 

 INDEX TO EXHIBITS – CONTINUED 

No.  Exhibit Description 
10(h)  Agreement dated July 20, 2001, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. and Sherrill 

Stone (filed as Exhibit 10(k) to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the 
fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

10 (i)  Agreement dated August 12, 2002, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. and 
Richard L. Travis, Jr. (filed as Exhibit 10(o) to our Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002, and incorporated herein 
by reference). 
 

10 (j)  Employment agreement dated February 11, 2005, by and between Peerless Mfg. 
Co. and Richard L. Travis, Jr. (filed as Exhibit 10(f) to our Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2005, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 
 

10 (k)  Employment Agreement dated July 16, 2003, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. 
and William T. Strohecker (filed as Exhibit 10(m) to our Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2003, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 
 

10 (l)  Agreement dated July 16, 2003, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. and William 
T. Strohecker (filed as Exhibit 10(n) to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for 
the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2003, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
 

10 (m)  Employment Agreement dated October 10, 2003, by and between Peerless Mfg. 
Co. and David Taylor (filed as Exhibit 10(f) to our Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein 
by reference). 
 

10 (n)  Employment Agreement dated October 10, 2003, by and between Peerless Mfg. 
Co. and Peter J. Burlage (filed as Exhibit 10(e) to our Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein 
by reference). 
 

10 (o)  Employment Agreement dated July 1, 2004, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. 
and G. Darwyn Cornwell. (filed as Exhibit 10(q) to our Annual Report on Form 
10-K, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
 

10 (p)  Key Employee Bonus Plan effective as of January 4, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 
to our current Report on Form 8-K dated February 9, 2005, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 
 

10 (q)  Description of Compensation Payable to Non-employee Directors (filed as 
Exhibit 10(b) to our current Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal 
quarter ended March 31, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference). 
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  INDEX TO EXHIBITS – CONTINUED 

 
No.  Exhibit Description 

   
10 (r)  Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1  

to our Current Report on Form 8-K on February 9, 2005, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 
 

10( s)  Form of Chief Executive Officer Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2  
to our Current Report on Form 8-K on February 9, 2005, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 
 

10 (t)  Form of Executive Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.3  to our 
Current Report on Form 8-K on February 9, 2005, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
 

21 
 

 Subsidiaries of Peerless Mfg. Co. * 
 

23  Consent of Grant Thornton LLP. * 
 

31(a)  Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer. * 
 

31(b)  Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer. * 
 

32(a)  Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer. ** 
 

   32(b)    
  

 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer. ** 

 _________________________  
*   Filed herewith 
**    Furnished herewith 
 
Peerless Mfg. Co. undertakes to provide, free of charge, a copy of exhibits filed as a part of the 2005 
Form 10-K upon a request in writing to: 
   
 Peerless Mfg. Co. 
 2819 Walnut Hill Lane 
 Dallas, Texas   75229 
 Attn:  Ms. Susan Banner 
 
This information may also be obtained by visiting either the Company’s website at 
http://www.peerlessmfg.com  (under “Investor Relations”) or the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. 
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EXHIBIT 21 
 
 

SUBSIDIARIES OF PEERLESS MFG.CO. 
 

 
Name Domicile Ownership 

   
Peerless Europe Ltd. The United Kingdom 100% 

   
PMC Acquisition, Inc. Texas 100% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

EXHIBIT 23 
 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 
 

We have issued our report dated September 16, 2005 accompanying the consolidated financial statements 
included in the Annual Report of Peerless Mfg. Co. on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2005. We 
hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statements of Peerless 
Mfg. Co. on Form S-8 (File No. 333-17229, effective November 12, 1999 and File No. 333-76754, 
effective January 15, 2003).  
 
 
/s/ Grant Thornton LLP  
Grant Thornton LLP 
Dallas, Texas 
September 16, 2005 
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EXHIBIT 31(a) 
 
 

RULE 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 
 
I, Sherrill Stone, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Peerless Mfg. Co., certify that:  
1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Peerless Mfg. Co.;  
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 

to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under 
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for 
the registrant and have:  

   (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

   (b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented 
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as 
of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

   (c)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting 
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the 
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

   (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

   (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.  

 
/s/ Sherrill Stone           
Sherrill Stone 
Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer  

  Date:  September 28, 2005 
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EXHIBIT 31(b)  
 
 

RULE 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
 
I, Richard L. Travis, Jr., Chief Financial Officer of Peerless Mfg. Co., certify that:  
1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Peerless Mfg. Co.;  
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 

to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under 
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for 
the registrant and have:  

   (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

   (b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented 
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as 
of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

   (c)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting 
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the 
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

   (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

   (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.  

 
/s/   Richard L. Travis, Jr.  
Richard L. Travis, Jr. 
Chief Financial Officer  

                  Date:  September 28, 2005 



 

EXHIBIT 32(a)  
   
   

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 

 
 
I, Sherrill Stone, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Peerless Mfg. Co. (the 
“Company”), certify, that pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code: 
  
(1)  The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended June 30, 2005, as filed with 

the Securities Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) fully complies with the 
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and  

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for the periods expressed in 
the Report.  
 

 
/s/ Sherrill Stone 
Sherrill Stone 
Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer 

              Date: September 28, 2005 
 
 
 
The foregoing Certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350; it is not being 
filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act, and is not to be incorporated by reference 
into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general 
incorporation languages in such filing.                                                        
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EXHIBIT 32(b) 
 
 
 

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 

 
 
I, Richard L. Travis, Jr., Chief Financial Officer of Peerless Mfg. Co. (the “Company”), certify, that 
pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code:  
 
(1)  The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended June 30, 2005, as filed with 

the Securities Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) fully complies with the 
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and  

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for the periods expressed in 
the Report.  
 

 
 
/s/ Richard L. Travis, Jr. 
Richard L. Travis, Jr. 
Chief Financial Officer 
Date: September 28, 2005 

 
 
 
 
The foregoing Certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350; it is not being 
filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act, and is not to be incorporated by reference 
into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general 
incorporation languages in such filing. 
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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 
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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not 

contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information 
statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.  [X] 

 
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2 

of the Act).  Yes _   No X 
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 
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Explanatory Note 

 
This Amendment No. 1 (this “Amendment”) on Form 10-K/A amends the Annual Report on Form 10-K 
of Peerless Mfg. Co. for the year ended June 30, 2005 (“Fiscal 2005”) that was filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on September 28, 2005. The Company is filing this Amendment to provide 
additional information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of Part III of Form 10-K because the 
Company does not expect to file its definitive proxy statement within 120 days after the end of Fiscal 
2005. For convenience, the Company has included in this Amendment all of the information previously 
furnished under such Item in the original Form 10-K. In addition, in connection with the filing of this 
Amendment, the Company is including currently dated certifications required by Rule 13a-14(a) under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and therefore, the Company amending Part IV solely 
for that purpose. This Amendment does not change any information previously disclosed in the original 
Form 10-K, including previously reported financial statements and other financial disclosure.  

 
 

Forward-Looking Statements 
 

From time to time, the Company will make oral and written statements that may constitute “forward-
looking statements” (rather than historical facts) as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 1996 or by the Securities and Exchange Commission in its rules, regulations and releases, 
including statements regarding its expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions, projections or strategies 
regarding the future.  The Company desires to avail itself of the “safe harbor” provisions in the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1996 for forward-looking statements made from time to time, 
including, but not limited to, the forward-looking statements made in this Report, as well as those made in 
the Company’s other filings with the SEC.  Forward-looking statements contained in this Report are 
based on management’s current plans and expectations and are subject to a number of risks and 
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in the forward-
looking statements.  In the preparation of this Report, where such forward-looking statements appear, the 
Company has sought to accompany such statements with meaningful cautionary statements identifying 
important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in the forward-
looking statements. 
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PART III 

 
ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 

 
The Company’s Bylaws divide the Board into three classes, with the terms of each class expiring in 
consecutive years so that only one class is elected in any given year.  The term for our Class II Directors 
expires this year.  The shareholders of the Company elect successors to directors whose terms have 
expired.  The Board fills vacancies in unexpired terms. 
  
There is no family relationship among any of our directors and senior officers.  The following table sets 
forth the names of our directors and senior officers and their respective ages and positions: 

  
Name Age Position 

 Peter J. Burlage 41 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer  (Newly Appointed) 
G. Darwyn Cornwell 61 Vice President of Operations 
Bernard S. Lee  70 Class II Director 
Joseph V. Mariner, Jr. 85 Class II Director 
R. Clayton Mulford  49 Class I Director 
Henry G. Schopfer, III 59 Chief Financial Officer 
Donald A. Sillers, Jr.  79 Class III Director 
Sherrill Stone 68 Class III Director, Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer 
William T. Strohecker 47 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer  (Outgoing) 
David Taylor 40 Vice President of Separation Filtration Systems 

 
Set forth below is a description of the backgrounds of the executive officers and directors, including the 
nominees for director. 
 
• Peter J. Burlage joined the Company in 1992.  Mr. Burlage has served as Vice President of the 

Environmental Systems business segment since January 2001.  Prior to this position, Mr. Burlage was 
the Company’s SCR Division Manager from 1997 to 2000 and Vice President of Engineering from 
2000 to 2001.  Mr. Burlage earned his B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Texas.  
Mr. Burlage was promoted to the position of Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer 
subsequent to the departure of William T. Strohecker. 

 
• G. Darwyn Cornwell rejoined the Company in 2003 as Vice President of Manufacturing and 

subsequently promoted to Vice President of Operations.   Mr. Cornwell had previously served as 
Senior Vice President of Operations for the Company from 1997 through 2000 and has held various 
other management positions with Peerless from 1982 to 2000.  Prior to rejoining the Company in 
2003, Mr. Cornwell served as President of Ace World Companies, a designer and manufacturer of 
custom engineered heavy material handling equipment.  Mr. Cornwell earned a B.S. in Business 
Management from LeTourneau University. 

 
• Bernard S. Lee, retired, was the former President of Institute of Gas Technology.  Mr. Lee has been a 

director of our Company since 1982. 
 
• Joseph V. Mariner, Jr., retired, has been a director of the Company since 1980. 
 
• R. Clayton Mulford has been a director of the Company since January 2002.  An attorney, Mr. 

Mulford, has been a partner in the Dallas office of Jones Day since January 2004.  Previously, Mr. 
Mulford was a partner and member of the Executive Committee of Hughes & Luce, LLP.  Mr. 
Mulford served as lead corporate legal counsel to the Company for a number of years.  
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• Henry G. Schopfer, III joined the Company in October 2005 as the Company’s Chief Financial 

Officer.  Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Schopfer served from 2001 to 2005, as Chief Financial 
Officer of T-Netix, Inc., a telecommunications company, from 1996 to 2000, as Chief Financial 
Officer of Wireless One, Inc., a communications company, from 1988 to 1996, as Corporate 
Controller and Chief Financial Officer of Daniel Industries, Inc., a manufacturer of fluid 
measurement products and systems for the energy industry.  Mr. Schopfer earned a B.S. in 
Accounting from Louisiana State University and is a Certified Public Accountant.    

 
• Donald A. Sillers, Jr. is the Company’s former Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, 

and has served as a director of the Company since 1970.  
 
• Sherrill Stone has served as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer since 1993, and 

President of the Company from 1986 through 2002 and from 2003 to present.  Mr. Stone has also 
served as a director of the Company since 1986. 

 
• William T. Strohecker joined the Company in July 2003 as Executive Vice President and Chief 

Operating Officer.  Prior to joining Peerless, Mr. Strohecker served from 2000 to 2003 as President of 
HF Controls Corporation.  Mr. Strohecker served from 1994 to 2000 as Vice President at Forney 
Corporation.  Mr. Strohecker’s employment with the Company will end on November 2, 2005. 

 
• David Taylor joined the Company in 1988 as a Research Engineer.  Since joining Peerless, Mr. 

Taylor has served the Company in a variety of Engineering, Sales and Management positions.   In 
2000, Mr. Taylor was appointed Vice President for Separation Filtration Systems and retains this 
responsibility on a global basis today.  In July 2004, Mr. Taylor resumed responsibility for Peerless’ 
Asia Pacific operations.  Mr. Taylor earned a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from Southern 
Methodist University. 

 
Audit Committee Members and Audit Committee Financial Expert 

 
The Company’s Board of Directors has a standing audit committee established in accordance with Section 
3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended.  The current members of the audit committee are: 
Bernard S. Lee, Joseph V. Mariner, Jr. and Donald A. Sillers, Jr.  The Board of directors of the Company 
has determined that all members of the audit committee are financial experts as defined by Item 401(h) of 
SEC Regulation S-K.  Each member of the audit committee has been determined by the Board of 
Directors to be independent as defined under the rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market. 
 

 
Section 16 (a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

 
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors and executive officers, and 
persons who own more than 10% of any class of our equity securities registered under Section 12 of the 
Exchange Act, to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership in 
such securities and other equity securities of our Company. SEC regulations also require directors, 
executive officers and greater than 10% stockholders to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports 
they file.  To our knowledge, based solely on review of the copies of such reports furnished to us and 
written representations that no other reports were required, we believe our directors, executive officers 
and greater than 10% stockholders complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements during the year 
ended June 30, 2005. 
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Code of Ethics 
 
The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct for Directors and Employees (the “Code”).  The Code is 
posted on the Company’s Internet website at http//:www.peerlessmfg.com (under “Investor Relations”) 
and applies to the Company’s principal executive officer and senior financial officer, including the 
principal financial officer, the principal accounting officer and others performing similar functions.  If we 
make any substantive amendments to the Code, or grant any waivers to the Code for any of our senior 
officers or directors, we will disclose such amendment or waiver on our website and in a report on Form 
8-K. 
 
The Company undertakes to provide any person without charge, a copy of the Code.  Request should be 
submitted in writing to the attention of Ms. Susan Banner at 2819 Walnut Hill Lane, Dallas, Texas 75229. 
 
 
ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 
The following table sets forth information regarding compensation we paid to our Chief Executive Officer 
and our most highly compensated senior officers during fiscal years ended June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003:  
 
 

Restricted Underlying
Stock Options/ LTIP All Other

Name and Fiscal Salary Bonus Other Awards(s) SAR's Payouts Compensation
Principal Position Year ($) ($)  (1) ($) ($) (#) ($) ($)  (2)

Peter J. Burlage (3) 2005  $   137,308 $          -   $           -   $           -          3,000  $           -   $               2,933 
Executive Vice President 2004       123,891       8,280              -                -          4,000               -                    2,636 
Chief Operating Officer 2003       112,500               -              -                -   -                             -                    2,378 

G. Darwyn Cornwell 2005       134,615               -              -                -   3,000                     -                    3,887 
Vice President - 2004         99,725       5,733              -                -   4,000                     -                    2,867 
Operations 2003                  -               -              -                -                  -               -                            - 

 . 
Sherrill Stone 2005       275,000        5,000                11,944 
Chairman, CEO, 2004       262,656     11,465              -                -        10,000               -                  11,247 
President 2003       250,000               -              -                -                  -               -                  14,280 

William T. Strohecker (4) 2005       195,000        5,000                10,565 
Executive Vice President 2004       184,132     10,191              -                -        12,000               -                    9,891 
Chief Operating Officer 2002                  -               -              -                -                  -               -                            - 

David Taylor 2005       137,308 3,000                        2,924 
Vice President - 2004       123,891       8,280              -                -   4,000                     -                    2,626 
Separation Filtration 2003       112,500               -              -                -   -                             -                    2,378 

Richard L. Travis, Jr. (5) 2005       195,000 5,000                      10,944 
Chief Finance Officer 2004       187,527     10,191              -                -   12,000                  -                  10,549 
Vice President of Adm. 2003       179,231               -              -                -   -                             -                    5,783 

Annual Compensation

 
1) Bonuses are paid in the fiscal year following the year in which they are earned. 
 
2) Amounts reported for 2005 consist of: (1) personal use of Company vehicles of $2,634, $6,228 and $6,490 

for Messrs. Stone, Strohecker and Travis, respectively; (2) employer matching contributions under the 
Company’s 401(k) plan of $2,746, $2,692, $5,500, $3,900, $2,746, and $3,900 for Messrs. Burlage, 
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Cornwell, Stone, Strohecker, Taylor and Travis, respectively; and (3) cost of premiums for group life 
insurance in excess of $50,000 of $187, $1,194, $3,810 $437, $178, and $554 for Messrs. Burlage, 
Cornwell, Stone, Strohecker, Taylor and Travis, respectively. 

 
3) Mr. Burlage is the newly appointed Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, subsequent to 

the departure of Mr. Strohecker. 
 
4) Mr. Strohecker’s employment with the Company will end on November 2, 2005. 
 
5) Mr. Travis resigned from the Company, effective October 18, 2005. 

 
 

Option Grants in 2005 to Senior Officers 
 
In fiscal 2005, stock options for an aggregate of 37,600 shares of our Common Stock were issued to 28 
employees, 5,000 of which were immediately exercisable and 32,600 of which will vest 25% ratably over 
the first four years of the 10-year exercise period.   
 
The following table sets forth certain information concerning Common Stock options granted to the 
named executive officers during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2005: 
 

Individual Grants
Number of % of Total
Securities Options Potential Realizable Value

Underlying Granted to Exercise at Assumed Annual Rates of
Options Employees in or Base Stock Appreciation 
Granted Fiscal Year Price Expiration for Option Term (1)

Name (2) (#) 2005 ($ per share) Date (2) 5% ($) 10%($)

Peter J. Burlage 3,000          7.21% 14.52$        2/3/2015 27,395$      69,423$      
G. Darwyn Cornwell 3,000          7.21% 14.52          2/3/2015 27,395        69,423        
Sherrill Stone 5,000          12.02% 14.52          2/3/2015 45,658        115,706      
William T. Strohecker 5,000          12.02% 14.52          2/3/2015 45,658        115,706      
David Taylor 3,000          7.21% 14.52          2/3/2015 27,395        69,423        
Richard L. Travis, Jr. 5,000          12.02% 14.52          2/3/2015 45,658        115,706      

 
(1) Caution is recommended in interpreting the financial significance of these figures.  Potential values are based 

on the assumption that the Company’s Common Stock will appreciate 5% or 10% each year, compounded 
annually, from the grant date of the option to the end of the option term, and therefore, the figures are not 
intended to forecast possible future appreciation, if any, of the price of the Common Stock or establish a 
present value of the options. 

 
(2) All options granted are exercisable for Common Stock pursuant to Peerless Mfg. Co. 2001 Stock Option  and 

Restricted Stock Plan. 
 
 

Aggregated Option Exercises in 2005 and Fiscal Year-end Option Values Table 
 
The following table sets forth information concerning Common Stock acquired on exercise of stock 
options during fiscal 2005, any value realized therein, the number of options at the end of fiscal 2005 
(exercisable and unexercisable) and the value of stock options held at the end of 2005 by the executive 
officers.  The "Value Realized" column reflects the difference between the market price on the date of 

7 



 
 
 

 

exercise and the market price on the date of grant (which establishes the exercise price for the option) for 
all options exercised, even though the executive may have actually received fewer shares as a result of the 
surrender of shares to pay the exercise price, or the withholding of shares to cover the tax liability 
associated with the option exercise.  Accordingly, the "Value Realized" numbers do not necessarily 
reflect what the executive might receive, should the optionee choose to sell the shares required by the 
option exercise, since the market price of the shares so acquired may at any time be higher or lower than 
the price on the exercise date of the option. 
   

Number (#) of Securities
Shares Underlying Unexercised Options Value ($) of Unexercised

Acquired on Value at Fiscal Year Ended In-the Money Options
Exercise Realized June 30, 2005 at June 30, 2005 (1)

Name (#) ($) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable

Peter J. Burlage 4,000           35,538$       9,000       6,000           34,610$     5,580$             
G. Darwyn Cornwell -              -              1,000       6,000           1,860         5,580              
Sherrill Stone -              -              83,000     -               543,475     -                  
William T. Strohecker (2) -              -              3,000       14,000         8,415         25,245            
David Taylor 5,000           43,986         6,500       6,000           14,141       5,580              
Richard L. Travis, Jr. (3) -              -              11,000     14,000         8,415         25,245            

 
 

(1) The closing price for the Company’s Common Stock as reported on Nasdaq Stock Market on June 30, 
2005 was $14.50.  Value is calculated on the basis of the difference between $14.50 and the option 
exercise price of "in the money" options, multiplied by the number of shares of our Common Stock 
underlying the option. 

 
(2) Mr. Strohecker’s employment with the Company will end on November 2, 2005. 
 
(3) Mr. Travis resigned from the Company, effective October 18, 2005. 

 
 

 
Employment, Severance and Change in Control Agreements with Certain Executive Officers 

 
The Company has entered into an employment agreement and a change of control agreement with Mr. 
Stone, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Strohecker, the Company’s Chief Operating 
Officer.   
 
Stone Agreements.  Mr. Stone's employment agreement with the Company as Chairman of the Board, 
Chief Executive Officer and President was initially for a one year term, commencing July 20, 2001 and 
renews for successive 12 month periods thereafter unless the agreement is terminated by either party prior 
to the anniversary date of the agreement.  Pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement, Mr. Stone 
has agreed not to compete with the Company during his employment and for one year following the 
termination of his employment.  Mr. Stone is also bound by confidentiality, nondisparagement and 
conflict of interest provisions.  The Company may terminate Mr. Stone for "cause" or without "cause" at 
any time.  If Mr. Stone is terminated without "cause," the Company must pay Mr. Stone a severance 
payment equal to 150% of his current base salary plus provide insurance benefits to Mr. Stone and his 
spouse for 12 months after the date of termination.  Mr. Stone may terminate his employment at any time 
and the Company will have no severance obligations in the event of his voluntary resignation, unless Mr. 
Stone resigns to retire from active working life.  In the event Mr. Stone retires from active working life, 
the Company will pay Mr. Stone a payment equal to 150% of his current base salary.  In Mr. Stone’s 
employment and change of control agreements, "cause" is defined as (1) the conviction of a crime 
involving moral turpitude, (2) the employee's intentional material act of fraud to his pecuniary benefit, or 
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(3) the employee's intentional and continued failure to substantially perform his duties to the Company or 
intentional wrong doing resulting in material injury to the Company.   

 
Mr. Stone's change of control agreement provides that if after a "change of control" occurs, Mr. Stone is 
terminated by the Company (or its successor) without "cause" or Mr. Stone resigns and (1) an adverse 
change in his position, duties or authority has occurred, (2) he has been hindered in his ability to perform 
his job, (3) his principal location of work is relocated outside of the Dallas metropolitan area, or (4) the 
Company (or its successor) breaches the change of control agreement (each, a "good reason"), Mr. Stone 
will receive severance compensation equal to 299% of his average annual compensation for the prior five 
years plus customary employee benefits for three years thereafter.  The change of control agreement has a 
term of three years following a change of control, which renews for successive one-year periods unless 
either party gives notice prior to the annual renewal date. As used in each executive's change of control 
agreement, "change of control" means (1) the Company is merged, consolidated or reorganized with 
another company and as a result, the Company's shareholders own less than 50.1% of the voting power of 
the combined company, (2) the Company sells all or substantially all its assets, (3) more than 50% of the 
Company's issued and outstanding Common Stock is sold, (4) the current Board of Directors, or successor 
directors approved by the Board, cease to constitute a majority of the Company's Board of Directors, or 
(5) such other events that cause a change of control of the Company as determined by the Board.   
 
Strohecker Agreements.  Mr. Strohecker’s employment agreement with the Company as Executive Vice 
President and Chief Operating Officer is for a three year term, commencing July 16, 2003.  Pursuant to 
the terms of the employment agreement, Mr. Strohecker has agreed not to compete with the Company 
during his employment and for one year following the termination of his employment.  Mr. Strohecker is 
also bound by confidentiality, nondisparagement and conflict of interest provisions.  The Company may 
terminate Mr. Strohecker for "cause" or without "cause" at any time.  If Mr. Strohecker is terminated 
without "cause", the Company, after 30 days notice, must pay Mr. Strohecker a severance payment equal 
the sum of (i) his current monthly salary times the number of complete months of employment, up to a 
total of 12 months, less (ii) the amount of notice payment made.  Mr. Strohecker may terminate his 
employment at any time, after 30 days notice, and the Company will have no severance obligations in the 
event of his voluntary termination. 

 
In Mr. Strohecker’s employment and change in control agreement, “cause” is defined as (1) the 
conviction of a crime involving moral turpitude, (2) the employee's intentional material act of fraud to his 
pecuniary benefit, or (3) the employee's intentional and continued failure to substantially perform his 
duties to the Company or intentional wrong doing resulting in material injury to the Company, (4) the 
failure by the employee to follow a reasonable directive of the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive 
Officer, or (5) violation of any policies or procedures of the Company, including without limitation, any 
human relations policy, resulting in material injury to the Company, in each case as reasonably 
determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. 
 
Mr. Strohecker’s change of control agreement provides that if a "change of control" occurs after Mr. 
Strohecker’s sixth month of employment and Mr. Strohecker is terminated by the Company (or its 
successor) without "cause" or Mr. Strohecker resigns and a “good reason” has occurred, Mr. Strohecker 
will receive severance compensation equal to 150% of his average annual compensation for the prior five 
years plus customary employee benefits for 12 months thereafter.  The change of control agreement has a 
term of three years following a change of control, which renews for successive one-year periods unless 
either party gives notice prior to the annual renewal date. 

 
Other Officer Agreements.  The Company has also entered into employment agreements with Mr. Burlage 
and Mr. Taylor on October 31, 2003 and Mr. Cornwell on July 1, 2004.  These employment agreements 
have an initial term of three years.  Pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement, Messrs. Burlage, 
Cornwell, and Taylor have agreed not to compete with the Company during their employment and for one 
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year following the termination of their employment.  Confidentiality, nondisparagement and conflict of 
interest provisions also bind Messrs. Burlage, Cornwell, and Taylor.  The Company may terminate 
Messrs. Burlage, Cornwell, or Taylor for "cause" or without "cause" at any time.  If any of Messrs. 
Burlage, Cornwell or Taylor are terminated without "cause", the Company, after 30 days notice, must pay 
the terminated officer a severance payment equal to the sum of (i) 75% of his current base salary 
annualized, less (ii) the amount of notice payment made.  Messrs. Burlage, Cornwell, or Taylor may 
terminate their employment at any time, after 30 days notice, and the Company will have no severance 
obligations to the terminated officer in the event of voluntary termination.  In the event voluntary 
termination is due to (a) a material adverse change in position, (b) a material adverse change in the 
method of calculating annual bonus, but not the amount, or a significant reduction in the scope or value in 
the aggregate of monetary or non-monetary benefits, (c) a determination, in good faith, by the employee 
that due to, changes in circumstances affecting his position or changes in the composition or policies of 
the Board, or other material events, that he is substantially unable to carry-out, or has been substantially 
hindered in his ability to perform his job, or (d) relocation outside the current metropolitan area, then the 
Company would be required to pay the terminated officer a lump sum payment equal to the sum of (1) 
25% of his current base salary annualized, less (2) amount of notice payment paid, plus (3) pro-rata 
portion of his annual incentive bonus. 

 
 

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 
 
During the 2005 fiscal year, none of the Company's executive officers served on the board of directors of 
any entities, whose directors or officers serve on the Company's Compensation Committee.  Except for 
Mr. Sillers’ prior service as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company from 
which he retired in 1993, no other member of the Compensation Committee is currently or has been an 
officer or employee of the Company.  
 

 
Report of the Compensation Committee 

 
The Compensation Committee is comprised of four directors, all of which have been determined by the 
Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) to be independent pursuant to the listing standards of 
the Nasdaq Stock Market, the exchange on which the Company’s Common Stock is traded.  The 
Compensation Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board, a copy of which is 
available on the “Corporate Governance” page of the “Investor Relations” section of the Company’s 
website at www.peerlessmfg.com. 

 
General Compensation Policy 
  
The Board and the Compensation Committee believe that the Company’s success requires an experienced 
and highly motivated professional staff.  Therefore, the Company’s compensation program is primarily 
designed to attract and retain highly capable executive officers and key employees, motivate such 
individuals to achieve the Company’s strategic financial and operational objectives and reward 
performance that meets such objectives. 
 
The Company’s executive compensation program combines base salary, annual bonus and the equity 
compensation program to attract and retain executives.  The Compensation Committee is responsible for 
setting the annual base compensation and bonus levels and administering the equity compensation 
programs for our employees, including our executive officers. Its recommendations are subject to final 
approval by the Board of Directors.  The Compensation Committee believes that the key to a successful 
executive compensation program is in setting aggressive business goals by integrating the program with 
annual and strategic planning and evaluation processes and by comparing results against industry 
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performance levels.  The Compensation Committee takes into account achievements of the Company 
during the past fiscal year, as well as the individual achievements of various business units and divisions, 
in making executive compensation determinations.  In addition, the Compensation Committee recognizes 
that the Company competes in a competitive environment, and executive compensation therefore must 
also take into account the Company’s performance as compared to that of other companies in its industry 
or in similar industries.  The Compensation Committee also evaluates on an annual basis the Company’s 
corporate performance, revenues and stock performance compared to a broader group of companies, such 
as the Standard & Poor's 500. 

  
Annual Base Compensation  

 
Annual base compensation awarded in any particular fiscal year to each senior officer is based upon the 
following factors: corporate performance during the prior year, performance of the division for which the 
officer is responsible, and a more subjective evaluation of each of the officer’s individual performance.  
The evaluation of corporate performance is directly linked to profitability during the period, and therefore 
is based upon the value of the Company’s Common Stock.  In making this evaluation, the Compensation 
Committee reviews the Company’s percentage growth in earnings per share over the prior year and its 
overall return on equity for that period.  The Compensation Committee believes that these two factors are 
the primary determinants of stock price over time.  The Compensation Committee also reviews the profit 
performance of the individual divisions for which the officer is responsible.  In addition, the 
Compensation Committee determines the individual rating for each officer, which is based upon such 
qualitative factors as the achievement of certain financial objectives and specific organizational and 
management goals for that officer.  Annual base compensation for the Company’s Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer is determined in the same manner as for 
other officers, except that the Compensation Committee does not review or evaluate any particular 
division's performance, but rather, looks to the Company as a whole in determining corporate 
performance relevant to these officers’ compensation. 

   
Annual Bonus Plan  

 
The Company has an incentive bonus plan pursuant to which certain key employees, including the named 
senior officers, are selected annually by the Compensation Committee to earn a cash bonus based upon 
the Company’s after-tax profitability.  This plan requires that a specific after-tax return on beginning-of-
year equity be achieved, after which bonuses may be paid out.  The available bonus pool is calculated on 
earnings in excess of the base level.  Once the total bonus pool is calculated, the Compensation 
Committee distributes bonuses to participants in the plan in accordance with pre-determined percentages 
as set annually.  The determination of the bonus level awarded to the Chief Executive Officer is made in 
the same manner as that of other officers.   

 
Equity Compensation Program   

 
The Company’s stock option program is intended to motivate executive officers and other key employees 
of the Company by providing long-term incentives to these individuals, all in a manner that is consistent 
with shareholder interests.  Stock options are generally granted annually, with an exercise price equal to 
the fair market value of the Company’s Common Stock on the grant date.  The number of options granted 
to a recipient is determined using various factors such as long-term incentives granted to executive 
officers in companies of comparable size and the individual recipient’s contribution to the Company.  To 
encourage long-term performance, options generally vest over a four-year period. 

 
The Compensation Committee also recognizes that, in order to attract and retain the highest quality 
officers, their compensation programs must be competitive in relation to compensation programs of other 
companies in similar industries and in comparable geographic areas.  Accordingly, the Compensation 
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Committee periodically reviews the executive compensation paid by such companies and local and 
national survey data.  In addition the Company may use the services of independent compensation and 
benefits consulting firms to provide analysis and recommendations for competitive pay levels and 
programs. 

 
In fiscal year 2005, the Compensation Committee increased the base salary levels of its five senior 
officers, excluding its Chief Executive Officer, by an average of 2.5%.  Based on the Company’s 
performance during fiscal 2005, the Compensation Committee granted no cash bonuses to these 
individuals during fiscal 2005. 

 
Compensation of Chief Executive Officer   

 
During fiscal 2005, the base salary of Mr. Stone, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, was not 
increased.  In fiscal 2005, Mr. Stone was granted options to purchase 5,000 shares of the Company’s 
Common Stock at an exercise price of $14.52, the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of 
grant.  These options were fully vested on the date of grant. 
 
Mr. Stone's base salary is not solely related to specific measures of corporate performance.  His tenure of 
service and his current job responsibilities, as well as the relative salaries of his peers in the industries in 
which the Company competes are also used to determine his base salary.  Any stock options awarded to 
Mr. Stone are not necessarily directly tied to specific measures of corporate performance.  Such awards 
are generally based on his current compensation and the Company's overall relative performance.   

 
Deductibility of Compensation 

 
Compensation in excess of $1 million per year by any of our five most highly compensated executive 
officers is not deductible by the Company for federal income tax purposes unless the compensation 
arrangement complies with the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended.  Our stock incentive plans used to compensate executive officers have complied, and are 
intended to continue to comply, with the requirements of Section 162(m).   

 
1995 and 2001 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan  

 
Our Board of Directors adopted the 1995 and the 2001 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plans (the 
“Plans”) to attract, motivate and retain qualified employees.  The Plans were approved by our 
shareholders on November 21, 1996 and November 20, 2001, respectively and became effective 
immediately thereafter.  Our Board of Directors, which administers the Plans, delegated to the 
Compensation Committee its power to determine which employees should be awarded stock options or 
restricted stock pursuant to the Plans.  From time to time, our Chief Executive Officer will recommend to 
the Compensation Committee individuals he believes should receive an option or grant, and, with respect 
to any recommended option, whether the option should be a qualified or nonqualified.  The Compensation 
Committee will consider, but need not accept, the Chief Executive Officer's recommendations. 

 
Under the terms of the Plans, options or grants up to an aggregate of 490,000 shares of Common Stock 
may be granted to employees and non-employee directors.  The Compensation Committee will determine 
the number and the exercise price of the options, and the time or times that the options become 
exercisable, provided that an option exercise price may not be less than the fair market value of our 
Common Stock on the date of grant.  The Compensation Committee will also determine the term of an 
option, provided that the term of a qualified option may not exceed 10 years.  The Compensation 
Committee may grant shares of restricted stock without requiring the payment of cash consideration for 
the shares.  As of June 30, 2005, there were 121,200 shares of Common Stock still available for grant 
under the Plans. 
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On June 15, 2005, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Peerless Mfg. Co. and the 
Board of Directors approved the acceleration of the vesting of certain unvested stock options held by 
employees, including senior and executive officers meeting both 1) an exercise price equal to or in excess 
of $16.94 per share, and 2) a remaining vesting period less than 12 months.  This resulted in 
approximately 6,550 options becoming immediately exercisable as of June 15, 2005.  All other terms and 
conditions of such options remain unchanged. Of the options accelerated, 4,000 were options to senior 
and executive officers. 
 
The members of the Compensation Committee for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005 submit this report: 
 
 Joseph V. Mariner, Jr., Chariman 
 Bernard S. Lee 
 R. Clayton Mulford 
 Donald A. Sillers, Jr. 

 
 

Compensation of Directors 
 

Non-employee directors are paid $1,875 per quarter, plus $1,000 for each scheduled and special Board 
meeting and committee meeting they attend.  Non-employee committee chairman are paid $1,500 for 
each scheduled and special committee meeting they chair.  The Company also grants stock options for 
1,000 shares of our Common Stock to each of the non-employee directors on the date of the annual 
shareholder's meeting for such director's prior year’s service.  During fiscal 2005, an aggregate of 4,000 
options were granted to non-employee directors to purchase shares of the Company’s Common Stock, all 
of which were immediately exercisable.  Additionally, during fiscal 2005, Mr. Lee, Chairman of the Audit 
Committee was paid $2,500 in conjunction with his services during the Company’s review of its internal 
control deficiencies.  Mr. Stone, the only officer serving on the Board, does not receive compensation for 
serving on our Board. 
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Stock Price Performance Graph 
 
The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return over a five-year period, assuming 
$100 invested at June 30, 2000 in each of (1) our Common Stock, (2) the Dow Jones Industrial Average 
and (3) a peer group consisting of manufacturers in the industrial sector providing industrial and 
commercial services to other commercial enterprises.  Total shareholder return is based on the increase in 
the price of the Common Stock with dividends reinvested.  The stock price performance depicted in the 
Corporate Performance Graph is not necessarily indicative of future price performance.   
 
The Corporate Performance Graph does not constitute soliciting material and shall not be deemed 
incorporated by reference in any filing by the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or 
the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

-

50

100

150

200

250

6/00       6/01          6/02          6/03          6/04          6/05

D
O
L
L
A
R
S

PEERLESS MFG. CO.

DOW JONES US INDUSTRIAL AVERAGE

DOW JONES US DIVERSIFIED INDUSTRIALS

 
 

Cumulative Total Return Analysis June 2000 June 2001 June 2002 June 2003 June 2004 June 2005
PEERLESS MFG. CO. 100.00$  214.49$  204.84$  133.15$  142.79$   174.73$  
DOW JONES US INDUSTRIAL AVERAGE 100.00   102.04   91.52     91.08     108.04     108.76   
DOW JONES US DIVERSIFIED INDUSTRIALS 100.00   100.70   66.36     67.42     87.17       90.11     
Source:  Research Data Group, Inc.  www.researchdatagroup.com  
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ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND  
                  MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS 

 
 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 
 
The following table sets forth aggregate information regarding the Company’s compensation plans in 
effect as of June 30, 2005. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Plan Category 

 Number of 
securities to be 

issued upon 
exercise of 
outstanding 

options  
(a) 

  
Weighted-

average 
exercise price 
of outstanding 

options  
(b) 

 Number of securities 
available for future 

issuances under equity 
compensation plans 
(excluding securities 

reflected in column (a)) 
(c) 

 
Equity compensation plans approved by           
security holders (1) 
 

  
 

237,950 

  
 

$11.22 

  
 

121,200 

Equity compensation plans not approved by 
security holders 
 

  
----- 

  
---- 

  
---- 

Total  237,950  $11.22  121,200 
       
 
(1) Includes the 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan and the 2001 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan. 

 
 

Security Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners 
 

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our Common Stock as of 
October 14, 2005 (unless otherwise noted) for:   

 
 Each person who is known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of the 

outstanding shares of our Common Stock; 
 Each of our directors and director nominees; 
 Each of our senior officers named in the Summary Compensation; and 
 All of our directors and senior officers as a group.  

 
The percentages of shares outstanding provided in the table is based on 3,036,684 voting shares 
outstanding as of October 14, 2005.  Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission and generally includes voting or investment power with respect 
to securities.  Unless otherwise indicated, each person or entity named in the table has sole voting and 
investment power, or shares voting and investment power with his or her spouse, with respect to all shares 
of stock listed as owned by that person.  The number of shares shown does not include the interest of 
certain persons in shares held by family members in their own right.  Shares issuable upon the exercise of 
options that are exercisable within 60 days of October 14, 2005 are considered outstanding for the 
purpose of calculating the percentage of outstanding shares of our Common Stock held by the individual, 
but not for the purpose of calculating the percentage of outstanding shares held by any other individual.  
The address of our directors, director nominee and senior officers listed below is c/o Peerless Mfg. Co., 
2819 Walnut Hill Lane, Dallas, Texas 75229. 
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Security Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners 
 

Number
Name of Shares Percent

Peter J. Burlage (1) 10,000      *
G. Darwyn Cornwell (2) 3,000        *
Bernard S. Lee (3) 15,000      *
Joseph V. Mariner, Jr. (4) 5,700        *
R. Clayton Mulford (5) 3,000        *
Donald A. Sillers, Jr. (6) 69,121      2.3%
Sherrill Stone (7) 129,716    4.2%
William T. Strohecker (8) 6,000        *
David Taylor (9) 7,500        *
Richard L. Travis, Jr. (10) 15,000      *
Royce & Associates (11) 415,400    13.7%

1414 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY   10019

Brown Advisory Holdings (12) 361,101    11.9%
901 South Bond Street
Baltimore, Maryland   21231

All directors and senior officers 264,037    8.3%
as a group (10 persons) (13)

* Denotes ownership of less than 1%  
 
 

(1) Includes 10,000 shares issuable pursuant to options to purchase Common Stock. 

(2) Includes 2,000 shares issuable pursuant to options to purchase Common Stock.  Does not include 1,000 
shares owned of record by Linda Cornwell, Mr. Cornwell's wife, as to which shares Mr. Cornwell 
disclaims any beneficial interest.   

(3) Includes 4,000 shares issuable pursuant to options to purchase Common Stock. 

(4) Includes 3,000 shares issuable pursuant to options to purchase Common Stock. 

(5) Includes 3,000 shares issuable pursuant to options to purchase Common Stock. 

(6) Includes 11,400 shares issuable pursuant to options to purchase Common Stock.  Does not include 
1,878 shares owned of record by Virginia Sillers, Mr. Sillers' wife, as to which shares Mr. Sillers 
disclaims any beneficial interest.   

(7) Includes 83,000 shares issuable pursuant to options to purchase Common Stock.  Does not include 300 
shares owned of record by Jo Ann Stone, Mr. Stone’s wife, as to which shares Mr. Stone disclaims any 
beneficial interest. 

(8) Includes 6,000 shares issuable pursuant to options to purchase Common Stock. 

(9) Includes 7,500 shares issuable pursuant to options to purchase Common Stock. 

(10) Includes 14,000 shares issuable pursuant to options to purchase Common Stock. 

(11) The information is based on a Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
February 1, 2005 

(12) The information is based on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
June 10, 2005 

(13) Includes 143,900 shares issuable pursuant to options to purchase Common Stock.   
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ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 
 
Prior to January 2004, R. Clayton Mulford, a director of the Company, was a partner at the law firm of 
Hughes & Luce, LLP, Dallas, Texas.  Hughes & Luce, LLP provided legal services to the Company 
during the 2005 fiscal year.  The dollar amount of fees that the Company paid to Hughes & Luce, LLP 
during the 2005 fiscal year did not exceed five percent of Hughes & Luce, LLP’s gross revenue for its 
latest full fiscal year. 

 
 
ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND EXPENSES 
  
The Audit Committee pre-approves the audit and non-audit services to be rendered to the Company, as 
well as the fees associated with such services.  Generally, management will submit to the Audit 
Committee a detailed list of services that it recommends the Audit Committee engage the independent 
auditors to provide during the fiscal year.  The Audit Committee pre-approves certain audit and non-audit 
services and establishes a dollar limit on the amount of fees the Company will pay for each category of 
services.  The Audit Committee is informed from time to time as to the non-audit services actually 
provided pursuant to the pre-approval process.  During the year, the Audit Committee periodically 
reviews the types of services and dollar amounts approved, and adjusts such amounts, as it deems 
appropriate.  Services that are not pre-approved in such a manner require specific pre-approval by the 
Audit Committee.  The Audit Committee also periodically reviews all non-audit services to ensure such 
services do not impair the independence of the Company’s independent auditors.  The Audit Committee 
approved all services provided by Grant Thornton LLP for the 2005 fiscal year.  These services included 
the audit of the Company’s consolidated annual financial statements, a statutory audit of the Company’s 
UK subsidiary, review of the Company’s consolidated interim financial statements and related filings, tax 
consultations services, and preparation of state and federal corporate tax returns.   
 
Following is a summary of Grant Thornton LLP fees for the year ended June 30, 2005 and 2004.   
  
Audit Fees.  Aggregate fees billed by Grant Thornton LLP for the audit of the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements, statutory audit of the Company’s UK subsidiary, and review of the Company’s 
consolidated interim financial statements fees, and assistance with and review of documents filed with the 
SEC were $158,618 for fiscal year 2005 and $130,338 for fiscal year 2004. 

 
Audit Related Fees.  Grant Thornton LLP did not bill the Company for any Audit Related Fees during 
fiscal year 2004 and 2005. 

 
Tax Fees.  The aggregate fees for income tax consultation, including tax compliance, tax advice and tax 
planning for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were $29,417 and $30,325, respectively.  These fees related 
primarily to preparation and review of corporate tax returns and other general tax consultation. 

 
All Other Fees.  The aggregate of all other fees paid for fiscal years 2005 and 2004 were $53,000 and $0, 
respectively.  These fees related primarily to the evaluation of the deficiencies in the Company’s internal 
controls over financial reporting as they relate to the Company’s administration of contracts. 
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PART IV 
 
ITEM 15.   EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

 
(a)  The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed as part of this Report.  See the exhibit 

index, which is included in this Report beginning on page 19.  
 

 
 

 
SIGNATURE 

 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly 
authorized.  
 
        PEERLESS MFG. CO. 
 
        By: /s/ Sherrill Stone                   
        Sherrill Stone 
        Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer 
        Date:  October 28, 2005   
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS 

 
No. 

  
Exhibit Description 

3(a)      Articles of Incorporation, as amended to date (filed as Exhibit 3(a) to our 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 1997, 
and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

3(b)       Bylaws, as amended to date (filed as Exhibit 3(b) to our Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
 

4(a)  Rights Agreement between Peerless Mfg. Co. and Mellon Investor Services, LLC 
(formerly ChaseMellon Shareholder Services, L.L.C.), as Rights Agent (filed as 
Exhibit 1 to our Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 0-05214), dated 
May 22, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

4(b)  Amendment to Rights Agreement between Peerless Mfg. Co. and Mellon Investor 
Services, LLC, as Rights Agent (filed as Exhibit 2 to our Registration Statement 
on Form 8-A, dated August 30, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference). 

   
10(a)  Incentive Compensation Plan effective January 1, 1981, as amended January 23, 

1991 (filed as Exhibit 10(b) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 1991, and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

10(b)  Peerless Mfg. Co. 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (filed as Exhibit 
10(h) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
1997, and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

10(c)  Amendment to Peerless Mfg. Co. 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan 
dated November 11, 1999 (filed as Exhibit 10(h) to our Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 1999, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
 

10(d)  Peerless Mfg. Co. 2001 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (filed as 
Appendix B to our Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A dated October 24, 2001, 
and incorporated herein by reference). 
  

10(e)  Asset Purchase Agreement dated February 25, 2000, by and between PMC 
Acquisition, Inc. and ABCO Industries, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K dated February 25, 2000, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
 

10(f)  Credit Agreement, Guaranty Agreement, Master Revolving Note, and Security 
Agreement each dated as of October 30, 2003, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. 
and Comerica Bank (filed as Exhibits 10(a) through 10(d) to our Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 
 

10(g)  Employment Agreement dated July 20, 2001, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. 
and Sherrill Stone (filed as Exhibit 10(i) to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, 
for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2001, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 



 
 
 

 

 
 

 INDEX TO EXHIBITS – CONTINUED 

No.  Exhibit Description 
10(h)  Agreement dated July 20, 2001, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. and Sherrill 

Stone (filed as Exhibit 10(k) to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the fiscal 
quarter ended September 30, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

10 (i)  Agreement dated August 12, 2002, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. and Richard 
L. Travis, Jr. (filed as Exhibit 10(o) to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the 
fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

10 (j)  Employment agreement dated February 11, 2005, by and between Peerless Mfg. 
Co. and Richard L. Travis, Jr. (filed as Exhibit 10(f) to our Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2005, and incorporated herein 
by reference). 
 

10 (k)  Employment Agreement dated July 16, 2003, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. 
and William T. Strohecker (filed as Exhibit 10(m) to our Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2003, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 
 

10 (l)  Agreement dated July 16, 2003, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. and William T. 
Strohecker (filed as Exhibit 10(n) to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the 
fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

10 (m)  Employment Agreement dated October 10, 2003, by and between Peerless Mfg. 
Co. and David Taylor (filed as Exhibit 10(f) to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q, for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
 

10 (n)  Employment Agreement dated October 10, 2003, by and between Peerless Mfg. 
Co. and Peter J. Burlage (filed as Exhibit 10(e) to our Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q, for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
 

10 (o)  Employment Agreement dated July 1, 2004, by and between Peerless Mfg. Co. 
and G. Darwyn Cornwell. (filed as Exhibit 10(q) to our Annual Report on Form 
10-K, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
 

10 (p)  Key Employee Bonus Plan effective as of January 4, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to 
our current Report on Form 8-K dated February 9, 2005, and incorporated herein 
by reference). 
 

10 (q)  Description of Compensation Payable to Non-employee Directors (filed as 
Exhibit 10(b) to our current Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter 
ended March 31, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference). 
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 INDEX TO EXHIBITS – CONTINUED 

No.  Exhibit Description 
10 (r)  Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1  

to our Current Report on Form 8-K on February 9, 2005, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 
 

10( s)  Form of Chief Executive Officer Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2  
to our Current Report on Form 8-K on February 9, 2005, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 
 

10 (t)  Form of Executive Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.3  to our 
Current Report on Form 8-K on February 9, 2005, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
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 Subsidiaries of Peerless Mfg. Co.  
 

23  Consent of Grant Thornton LLP.  
 

31(a)  Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.  
 

31(b)  Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.  
 

31(c)  Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer. * 
 

31(d)  Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer. * 
 

32(a)  Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.  
 

   32(b)    
  

 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer. 
  

 _________________________  
*   Filed herewith 
 
Peerless Mfg. Co. undertakes to provide, free of charge, a copy of exhibits filed as a part of the 2005 
Form 10-K upon a request in writing to: 
   
 Peerless Mfg. Co. 
 2819 Walnut Hill Lane 
 Dallas, Texas   75229 
 Attn:  Ms. Susan Banner 
 
This information may also be obtained by visiting either the Company’s website at 
http://www.peerlessmfg.com  (under “Investor Relations”) or the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. 
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EXHIBIT 31(c) 
 
 

RULE 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 
 
I, Sherrill Stone, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Peerless Mfg. Co., certify that:  
1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Peerless Mfg. Co.;  
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 

to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under 
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for 
the registrant and have:  

   (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

   (b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented 
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as 
of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

   (c)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting 
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the 
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

   (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

   (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.  

 
/s/ Sherrill Stone           
Sherrill Stone 
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer  
Date:  October 28, 2005 
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EXHIBIT 31(d)  
 
 

RULE 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
 
I, Katherine Frazier, Principal Accounting Officer of Peerless Mfg. Co., certify that:  
1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Peerless Mfg. Co.;  
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 

to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under 
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;  

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for 
the registrant and have:  

   (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

   (b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented 
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as 
of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

   (c)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting 
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the 
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):  

   (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

   (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.  

 
/s/ Katherine Frazier  
Katherine Frazier 
Principal Accounting Officer 
(Person Performing Function of Chief Financial Officer)  

              Date:  October 28, 2005 
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n We will set the pace for 
 others to follow.

n The people of Peerless are 
 dedicated to providing “peerless” 
 value to our employees, 
 customers and owners.

n Our foundation is a commitment 
 to our employees.

n Our committed employees 
 will partner with our suppliers, 
 customers and owners to provide 
 best-value solutions with reliable
 products on time.

n This vision will achieve global 
 industry leadership.
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OUR  VISION

n	 Integrity	
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